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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report ,
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present thejr Strategic report on the affairs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, The Group
financial statemenis conaalidate the financial statemenls of Circle Health Tloldings Linnled (the 'Company') and its
subsidiary undertakings ('Subsidiaries") drawn up to 31 December 2022. Together these make up 'Circle' or the 'Group'.

The Company was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 30 December 2016 and is a holding company within the Group.

Principal activilies

The Group is a provider of healtheare services in the UK, treating privately insured, selfepay and NHS-funded patients at its
54 hospitals and clinics across the UK, The Group also manages integrated care systems on behalf of commissioners. The
Group’s business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors,
nurses and all other staff who work in our hospitals and clinics to put patients® nceds first.

Review of eperating and bhusiness performance and key performance indicators (KPls)
The principal financial KPIs for the Group are hospital caseload (activity), revenue and profit before tax,

Hosnital caseload (activity)

The Group carried out 294,000 procedures during 2022 and received 1.6 million outpatient visits, compared with 283,000
procedures and 1.6 mitlion outpatient visits during 2021.

Revenue
Revenue was £1,092 million for the year to 31 December 2022 (2021: £1,052 million).

Profit before tax
The loss before tux from continuing operations was £87.4 million (2021: £51.4 million).

Operating performance

The Group continues to focus relentlessly on providing the highest quality care for its patients, At the end of 2022 the group
had achieved Care Quality Control (CQC) ratings of 'Outstanding’ at two of its hospitals and 'Good' ratings at a further 34
haspitals/clinics. Healtheare Improvement Scotland (HIS) and Healthcare Improvement Wales (HIW) have rated ail
hospitals in those locations as 'Good".

The operating performance of the Group during 2022 was impacted by the ongoing presence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
with the Group continuing to support the wider UK health system in its response to the pandemic as well as returning to
previous conunissioning and operating arrangements with iis major customers. The Omicron variant resulted in increased
Covid infections across the UK which was a source of shorter-term disruption in the eatly months of 2022. This subsided
through 2022 and has had limited impact to date in 2023. This is reflected in the ycar-on-year increase in hospital caseload
and the build back towards the pre-pandemic treatment pathways and patient flows. The Group saw a substantial increase in
demand for treatinent from patients paying for themselves, alongside increases in activity from private medical insurance
{PMI) providers. NHS commissioning activity remained below pre-pandemic levels in 2022

Bxceptional items of £39.2 mitlion (2021: £11.6 mitlion) recorded within operating profit relate to the following items:

* costs of £0.6 million (2021: £4.1 million) in relation to the ongoing Competition & Markets Authority review of the
Birmingham market following the acquisition of the BMI Healthcare group in January 2020;

» legal costs of £0.5m (202 1: £nil) in relation to the May 2022 debt refinancing;

* ather exceptional costs £0.2m (2021: £0.1m); and

* the Group incurred £37.9 million (2021; £7.4 million) of impairment charges following the asscssment of asset

impairment,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Operating performance (continued)

Finance costs of £137,788 (2021: £137,376) were incurred during the year. Finance costs consisted of the fellowing:

+ £119.3 million (2021; £118.5 million) in relation to the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use properties;

« £1.4 million (2021: £0.9 nullion} in relation {o the interest expense incurred on [FRS 16 right of use equipmient assets held
on {inance leases;

+ interest on senior facilities of £10.5 million (2021: £18.0 million); and

* a one off interest charge of £6.6m (2021: £nil) relating to the write off of the loan issue costs on the previous facilities on

refinancing of these facilities during the year (note 19).

The tax credit for the year was £7.0 million {2021 charge of £1.3 million). The resuliing net loss after tax for the period
was £80.4 million (2021: £52.7 million). This reflects the non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments as well as
the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges,

Financial position

The Group's balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 showed a total deficit of £25.7 million, compared with total equity of
£43.4 miltion as at 31 December 2021. The deficit pasition results from the cumulative impact of the non-cash accounting
charges on leases required under international accounting standards (IFRS16). In the early years of the leases, this creates a
non-cash accounting charge in excess of the cash rent paid by the Group. The Group's financial position remains strong,
generating cash from operations to fund capital investment and with £100.0 million of committed undrawn facilitics
available to it at the date of approving these accounts.

Outlook

The Group's large hospital network, capacity and geographical foolprint, including its intensive care facilities, means that
the Group is well placed to serve strong demand for diagnostic, surgical and other treatment demand from patients, on
private pay and group NHS pathways. However, this may be disrupted in the event of resurgence of the pandemic or a new

pandemic.

The inflationary pressures across the UK. continue to inmpact the Group with the cost of providing care increasing with
particular pressure on staffing and energy costs in particular.

Management has sought to attract and retain high quality staff and ensure fair pay across the workforce, while seeking to
reduce reliance on agency staffing to manage labour costs appropriately. The industrial action by doctors and nursing staff
in the NHS has had no discernible impact on the Company to date.

Thke Group utilises energy price hedging to provide some price certainty for gas and power costs.

i
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Capital projects

The Group made a significant investment in jts hospitals and technology during 2022, to increase capacity to meet current
and future demand and to continue to provide excellence in patient treatment in safe environments. The Group invested a
total of £86.6 million (including £16.3 million of finance lease fimded nssets but excluding additions to Right of Use
Property Assets under IFRS 16), including:

* multi-million pound investment in the hospital facilities in Aberdeen, Glasgow, Birmingham, Bath and London;

* installation of major imaging equipment across the estate including renewal of 5 MRI, 4 CT and 7 Digital X-Ray scanners
and a further 2 mobile MRI and 2 mobile CT scanners to enable flexible deployment to areas of highest diagnostic need;

* investment in medical technology to promote excellence in patient treatment, inchuding over £7.0 million mvestiment in
replacing and upgrading clinical equipment across the estate;

* a new cardiac catheterisation Iab at the Group's Coventry hospital to improve access to rapid diagnostics and treatiment for
patients;

* hew ward capacity at our hospital in Camarthen, Wales to deliver incrcased capacily to support patient needs in the area;

* completion of a new modular theatre at the Beaumont hospital in Bolton to increase capacity and provide increased access
to care in the area; and

* redevelopment of the othopaedic facilities at our Guildford hospital to allow improved access to first class care for

patients in the local community.

Financing and freasury transactions

In May 2022, the Group extinguished and refinanced its previous debt facilities with a three year revolving credit facHity of
£250 million provided by a group of five banks. An amount of £180 million was drawn down under the facility at that time,
with £160 million remaining drawn as at 31 December 2022 and the remaining £90 miltion remaining available to the
Group.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Companies Act 2006 requires all companies to disclose and discuss the principal risks and uncertainties that they face
which, in most cases, are normal business risks. The Group manages risks through its committee structure, including
governancc committees, and through the use of a regularly updated and reviewed 1isk register, and risk is discussed and
actioned on a regular basis by the directors.

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of non-financial risks including political risk, reputational risk and cyber risk.
The Group's activities also expose it to a number of financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk, cash flow risk
and liquidity risk. Any use of financial derivatives to manage these risks is govemned by the group’s policies approved by
the board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage thesc risks. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Enterprise risk identification and management

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business. The Group’s risk management systems aim to provide assurance to the
Board of directors regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk, This is managed via the Governance
and Assurance Framework, under which matters of significance and impact are discussed by the Integrated Governance
Committee ("1GC"), Operations Board, and the Audit and Risk Comimittee.

The following provides an overview of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with a description, where
relevant, of the mitigating actions in place.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Adequecy of insurance scope and coverage

The Group is subject to litigation for actions by third parties or may be found liable for damages which may not be covered
by its insurance policies if hot covered due to policy limitations or exclusion, or failure to comply with the terms of the
policy. This could iead to financial exposure for claim value not covered by the insurance policies or increasc insurance
premiums impacting future financial periods. Regular reviews are conducted together with the Group's insurance brokers to
ensure sufficient levels of cover are maintained across the Group, Further frequent communication with the Clinical and
Operational functions to ensure that robust process for capturing and reporting of incidents.

Clinical risk

As with all hospital providers, clinical quality risk is a major consideration. The Group has an integrated clinical
governance structure which is managed by the Chief Medical Officer who sits on the Board. This structure includes senior
staff across the operational, clinical and central support teams. Each hospital site has its own local governance structure,
while a team of clinical care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and operational
policies across all sites, Local governance committees work to 2 rigorous assurance framework, manage day to day clinical
risks through a risk register, provide appropriate training to staff and consultants, and report their findings to the Group’s
Integrated Governance Committee (IGC) which was chaired by the Group’s Clinical Chairman and an independent Board
Director. The IGC in turn provides risk assurance reports to the boards of the relevant Group companies ineluding the

Company.
Repurational risk

Reputational risk associated with poor clinical outcomes or patient satisfaction is mitigated by the focus on providing high
quality care at the Group’s facilities and constantly seeking to improve clinical services through the activities of the IGC
and reclated assurance reviews,

Cortract and price visk

Private medical insurance; The Group is exposed to 2 highly concentrated PMI market, whereby the Group carries out
considerable activity under a small number of coniracts with the major private medical insurers, which are subject to
periodic renegotiation as to the access of insurers® members to the Group’s facilities and Lo the price of services. Changes to
or the ending of any of these contracts, or ta pricing within them, could affect the levels of activity or profitability of the
Group. The Group manages these risks through active account management, and demonstrating improvement across the
hospital network whether that |s through technology and clinical equipment investment or increase scope of services offered
to patients. Additionally, the Group also seeks to maintain good relationships with the private medical insurers, to contract
en medjum term arrangements and to agree pricing which takes into account potential increases in the Group’s own cost
base over time.

Self-pay: the Group provides medical services to self-pay patients. Increases in costs as a result of the inflationary pressure
in the UK could result in upward pressure on pricing for patients, potentially impacting the demand. To mitigate these risks,
the group seels to maintain reasonable pricing, while still recovering increases in costs where possible.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Contract and price visk (continued)

NHS: the Group carries out work for the NLIS in England under standard contracts with Intergrated Care Boards ("1CBs")
{using the electronic referral service), local contracts with NHS Trusts and occasionally (as during the pandemic through to
early 2021) directly with central NHS organisations. The nature of these contracts and the consequent access of NHS
patients to the Group's facilities may be subject to change in the future. In general, the Group is paid the standard NHS tariff
for the work it carries out, so is subject to the uncertainty of future tartff changes which are determined centrally by the
NHS. The Group aims to mitigate these risks by acting as a reliable pariner to NHS commissioners and consistently
providing high quality services to NHS patients in a cost-effective manner.

The Group's integrated care business delivers an integrated care model, which manages the whole patient pathway for
individual specialities through price capped contracts with the NHS. The Group generally secks to price these capped
contracts at levels that takes account of potentially increasing cost pressures and, where appropriate, to establish contract
terms that enables revenues to be adjusted in Jine with future annual NHS National Tariff inflation and demographic
growth. All contracts are subject to a public tender process.

Data protection and eyber risk

The Group iz subject to data protection and cyber risk from cybercrime, [T systems failure and threats to data protection,
including data theft. The Group manages these risks through regular meetings of its Tcchnology Governance sub-
comymittee, which has aceomntability for quality and safety of information and technology systems, assessing risk and
performance, making improvement recommendations and advising the Iniergrated Governance Committee and Circle
Group Board, The Group also employs data protection and information security officers to oversee relevant risks, and
carries out periodic testing of certain risks as part of its overall assurance programme. Further the Group has in place cyber
insurance cover, covering a number of the first-party and third-party financial and reputational costs.

Government policy and regulatory risk

The provision and regulation of healthcare in the UK, including that by the independent sector, is the subject of periodic
review by government and regulatory bodies. New regnlations, and funding arrangements, may be introduced in the future
which could have adverse effect on demand for the Group’s services (from different payor groups), its operational costs and
the nature and cost of regulatory compliance.

Workforce availabifity risk
There is a shortage of nurses and healthcare staff across the UK and overseas, which has led to an increased usage of agency

labour. In the short term the Company can utilise increased agency stafl lo mitigate this. However in the medium to long
term, this will impact on profitability and would not be sustainable.

The Group is continues to focus on attracting new talent to the Group, including the use of overseas nurses, while also
aiming to reduce staff turnover via improved staff engagement and competative remuneration.

Supply chain availability risk

The continued impact of the Covid pandemis, the UK's exit from the European Union and the Russia-Ukraine conflict has
resulted in shortages of various components utilised by the Group in its operations, This risk has been managed via the
combination of longer contracted terms with suppliers to safcguard against large price changes, as well the presence of a
warehousing and logistics provider which gives the Group better and increased capacity to hold components with long
replacement leadtimes.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Inflation risk

Given the global economic conditions, and political uncertaiuly in Eurvpe, higher levels of inflation have been experienced
with consequent additional pressure on staff costs. The impact on the Group has been an increase in direct costs for goods
and services, not all of which ¢an be covered by increased pricing, To mitigate this risk, where possible, the Company
etiters into long term purchase agreements to protect and limit against the full effect of cost inflation. The large majority of
the Group's leases inclade a cap on the annual increases. Further, customer prices are being reasonably increased where
possible fo reflect the ncrease in costs,

Energy costs

The global economic and political conditions within Europe have also led to large increases in encrgy prices. The Group
had hedged energy pricing until Q4 of 2022 and so was protecied from these increases for the majority of the year, before
experiencing a significant increase in its gas and electricity costs from October 2022, with costs expected to remain high
into 2023, The Group benefited from the government's energy price cap policy from 1 October 2022 until 3] March 2023.
For subsequent periods, the Group continues to hedge its gas and power pricing where appropriate to protect from higher
future prices in the wholesale markets,

A summary of the Group's clectricity usage for the ycar can be seen in page 15 of the Dircctors' report.

Interest vate visk

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee has announced a series of interest rate rises during 2022 and 2023 to
date, Interest on the Circle Group’s new £250 million revolving credit facility is variable based on the Sterling Overnight
Index Average rate (SONIA) and so is exposed to changes in UK interest rates. The current drawn amount under the facility
at the date of these accounts is £150 million, and a 100 basis point increase in SONIA would result in a £1.5 niillion
increase in the Circle Group’s annual interest cost,

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other veceivables, and investments.

The Group's eredit risk is primarily atiributable to its trade receivables. This is managed by regular monitoring of existing
customer accounts and credit checks on new customers before credit is provided. The amounts presented in the Statement

of Financial Position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there is an
identificd loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduclion in the recoverability of cash flows.

Cash flow and liguidity risk

In the ordinary course of busincss, in order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are availabie for ongeing
operations and future developments, the Group uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt facilities, The Group
manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flaws, and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing
facilities are maintained to cover any short-term liquidity requirements.

The maturity of the debt facilities existing as at 31 December 2022 are detailed in note 19.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Stratcgic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Environmental and climate change risk

The Circle Group’s energy and carbon reporting, as well as its approach to enyironmental management, is disclosed in the
Directors® report on page 15. The Directors have considered broader impacts of climate change and the potential impacts on

the business.

Other than those matters disclosed on page 15 of the Directors’ report relating consideration of the environmental impact of
capital programmes, the Directors consider that climate change risk would not have a material impact o the operating
model of performance of the business.

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1))

Under scction 172 of the Companies Act 2006, directors of a company have a duty to promote the success of the company.
Spccifically, it requires the director of a company to act in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would most likely
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole. In performing their dutics under section 172,
the directors of the Company have had regard to the matters set out il section 1 72(1) as follows:

a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

The Board has set long term strategic objectives for the Company focused on:

+ ¢clinical guality, patient experience and market leading reputation;

« attracting and retaining the best peaple;

* investment in infrastructure by improving the envirorunent for patients and staff and capabilities;

+ digital transformation to enable improved patient pathways, propositions and efficiency; and

* business growth.

These pillars form the basis of a five-year plan which is monitored and update periodically. The strategy and plan
supports decision-making around capital investment and allows the board to forecast funding requirements, debt
capacity and financing options that are required to deliver this. As described elsewhere in this report, the debt facilities
in place suppott the Company*s investment plans.

In developing the strategy, the Directors also consider external factors such as the political, economic, regulatory, and

competitive environment.

b) the interests of the company's employees
The Directors understand the importance of the Group’s employees to quality of care provided to patients, and so the
long-term success of the business.

There is regular engagement with employees through an Employee Voice Forum, weekly staff newsletters, and an
annual cmployee cngagement programume. As a result of the most recent annual employee engagement survey, the
Group was awarded a 2-star outstanding employer rating by best companies™:. The Group continues to use the results
of its annual employee engagement programme to invest further in improving the overall employee cxperience. This
includes investing in pay awards, increasing minitttum basic hourly wage of contracted staff and by carrying out
regular salary benchmarking and pay review exercises to allow clinical and other staff to be paid at competitive levels

in the market.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Stratcgic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1)) (continued)

¢} the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
The Board regularly revicws how the Group maintains positive relationships with all of its stakeholders including

patients, consultants, supplicrs and others.

The Group’s patient satisfaction surveys are run by an independcnt third party and show that 99 percent would
recommettd our hospitals to their friends and family and 99 percent rated the overall quality of care as ‘very good” or
‘excellent’. The Group also undertakes consultant surveys to gauge the views of the surgeons and other medical
consultants practicing in our hospitals. The Board reviews the results of these surveys. Supplier relationships arc
managed through the Group’s procurcment team with longstanding relationships with key suppliers.

The Groups principal risks and uncertainties set out risks that can impact the long-term suecess of the Group and how
these risks interact with out stakeholders. The Divectors actively seek information on the interaction with stakeholders
to ensure thal they have sufficient information to reach appropriate conclusions about the risks face by the Group and

how these are reflected within the long-term plans.

d) the impact of the company’s aperations on the community and the environment;
The Group has an ongoing capital investment programme to improve the hospital estatc and bring new medical and
diagnostic equipment in lo the hospilals. The capilal project process considers the environmental impact and energy

efficiency of programmes of work to monitor and improve this over time.

The Company and its employees also support local and national charities through various fund raising, sponsorship
and matched giving initiatives, as well as raising donations to provide supplies and equipment to hospitals in Ukraine.

¢} the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
As a healthcare provider, the Directors belicve that maintaining the reputation of the Grouyp is critical for the future
success. Clinical quality and governance is at the heart of the culture of the Group and receives significant focus at

Board level.

The Board is committed to high standards of business conduct and details of the governance structies are set out in
the annual Quality Account, available on the Circle Health Group website.

f)  the need to act fairly as between members of the company
The Group holds monthly meetings with shareholders represented. Shareholders have worked effectively together to

agree the course for the long term future of the Group.

The Company and its board of divectors (“the Board’) is committed to and has applied the principles af corporate
governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 31
December 2022. Further explanation of ftow cach principle has been applied is set out in the Statement of corporate

governasnce airangements.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern

The Directors have performed a going concern assessment and concluded there is a reasonable expectation that the Group
and Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, the going concern assessirient period, for the tollowing reasons.

The Directors have considered the consolidated balance sheet position of the Group, which reflects the cumulative impact
of non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments ss well as the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges. The
Directars have also considered the strong operating petformance of the Group and the strong operating cash flows, which
are sufficient to fund the capital investment requirement of the Group.

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going concern review and have also
applied various sensitivities. These forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the directors of the Company together
with the underlying assumptions, The forecasts show that the Group has sufficient cash and facilities to provide liquidity
through the review period.

The Group’s senior facilities (set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene
Corporation, and financial covenants for the facilitics are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial performance. The covenant reporting shows
that the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates that they
will be complied with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headrooim.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby Purc Health Holding LLC
(‘Pure Health’) (a major healthcare operator based in the Middle East, with a range of intermational healthcare investments)
will, through its UK subsidiary, acquire Circle Health Holdings Limited and its subsidiary undertakings from the Centene
Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter of 2024. No material change to the operating
activities of the Group is expected in the period to closing of the transaction.

The directors have considered the future financing arrangements for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of
the transaction, including the provision of funds to repay existing borrowings and to provide working facilities.
Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, following completion of the transaction, this
will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroom.,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The directors do nat believe there will be any material change to the scope ar nature of the Group's operations, fallewing
completion of the transaction and within the going concern assessment period. As with a change of ownership of any
company, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future plans of the proposed new owners, for the
stralegic dircclion of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the proposed acquiror and reccived
representations from them. Based on this, at the date of approval of these financial stalements, the directors have ng reason
to belicve that the entity will not continue as a going concern.

The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals, In the event that these conditions
are not met and therefore the transaction does not close (or is delayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in
place which, as noted above, provide adequate liguidity for the Group.

After making enquiries and based on the evidence available at the date of approval of these financial statements, including
reviewing the facts and circunstances note above, and the Group’s forecasts and downside sensitivities, the direciors have

concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources available to
them, to continue in operational existence and meet its liabilitics as they fall due for the foresceable future, and at least for

12 months from the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the tinancial statements,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Henry Davies
Chief Financial Officer

29 Naverane 2023
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

This report forms part of the Directors' report. The Company and its board of directors (the Board’) is committed to and
has applied the principles of corporate governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large
privaie companics for e yew ended 31 Deeember 2022, 1urthier explunabon of how each principle has been applied 1s sot

onut below.

Purpose and leadership

The Board and Company have regular communications with stakeholders and this is different case by case. The key
stakcholders and the specific forum for engagement arc listed below:

* Patients — patient feedback forms, complaints management policies, provision of infoermation to Private Healthcare
Information Network (PHIN) whose role it is to provide independent information to patients about private heaithcarc
providers

* Regulators — frequent relationship meetings with CQC, HIS and HIW and communication via Independent Healthcare
Provider Network (THPN)

* Employees - Employee Voice Forum and employee engagement progranime

» Consultants — Medical Advisory Committecs within each hospital (MAC) chaired by a Hospital Clinicai Chair

* NHS — local relationships with Trusts and ICRs, and central relationships with NHS England and other national NHS
bodies

* Insurers — relationships and regular engagement with the commercial team

* Suppliers - relationships and regular engagement with the procurement tcam

The Directors have established a purpose statement for the Group “To provide the high quality, safe and compassionate
care our patients need and expect.” supported by the principles of:

* “we believe that patients come first”;

* “we believe in our people™;

* “we believe that ‘good enouglh’ never is”; and

« “we believe in being open-minded and innovative”.

and also supported by the following values:

* “we value people who are selfless and compassionate™;

* “we value people who are collaborative and committed”;
* “we value people who are agile and brave”; and

+ “we value people who aye tenacious and creative”.

The Company is committed to building a culture which encourages staff to speak up safely. This is supported by our
“Freedom to Speak Up Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing)” policy and the role of the “Freedem to Spealk Up Guardian®.
“Freedom to Speak Up” leads were appointed in each hospital and have the support of their local management teams, the
Group’s guardian and our Chief Medical Officer who has Executive responsibility for “Freedom to Speak Up”.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Purpose and leadership (continued)

The Company has various policies to mitigate the risk of conflcts of interest including the conflicts of interest and fraud,
anli-bribery and corruption polictes supported by a mandatory training programme. In addition all healthcare professionals
have cthical requirements under their individual prafessional registrations to conduct themselves in an cthical manner and
in the best interests of patients. Where the Group has commercial relationships with medical consultants these are
disclused on the Cirele Healthcare website.

There are examples of how the directors have considered their duties in relation to $172 b), in the manner in which it
enpages with employees, as set out in the Strategic Report.

Board composition
The Circle Health Holdings Limited Board is comprised of directors wha have healthcare experience and other relevant

experience, Details of dircctors who have scrved over the period are included in the Directors’ Report,

Directors® responsibilities

The Group has a clearly defined governance framework, based on Board and Governance Assurance Frameworks, and
Committee struciures. The Board is supported by the Integrated Governance Committee, which had primary responsibility
for the oversight of clinical and other related governance and risks, and the Audit and Risk Committee, which had primary
responsibility for the oversight of financial and related governance and risks in the Group, together with a series of
operational and governance boards, committees and sub-committees, with established terms of reference.

Opportunity and risk

The Company continually seeks opportunity to create value for stakeholders from growth in activity and improvement in
financial result, using the existing assets of the Company and through investment in new facilities, equipment and
technology, The risks that threaten these opporlunities have been described earlier in this risk, and are under active
management through the Company’s risk management systems.

Remuneration

On any new appointment the board considers the market and remuneration packages that are commensurate to the role.
Short term incentive arrangements are based on the quality and performance of business. The market conditions are
reviewed on a regular basis. The Group’s Gender Pay Report 2022 is available on the Group's website,

Stakeholder relationship and engagement

There are various mechanisms for information to be collected to inform the Board’s view of their impact on stakeholders.
I[nformation about patients is obtained from various ¢linical indicators and patient reported outcome measures (PROMS).
The Group monitors its impact on the environument through review of the carbon emissions reporting (see further

information on this elsewhere in the Directors’ Report). Other stakeholder engagement mechanisms are set out in the first

prineiple regarding "Purpose and Leadership.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year cnded 31 December 2022

The direclors present their report on the affairs of the Company, together with the audited financial statements and auditor’s report,
for the year ended 3| December 2022,

Vetails of the Group's principal activity, events affecting the Company since the financial period end, an indication of likely futurc
develapments in the business, details of financial risk management, engagement with employecs, suppliers and customers and a
statement on going concern have been included in the Strategic report and therefore form part of this Directors’ report by reference.

Dividends
The directors do not propose a dividend for the year (2621 £nil}.

Directors

The directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, and subsequently are as shown below:

Peter Sullivan

John Hutton

Brent Layton

Beverley Tew (appointed 23 February 2022)
Paolo Pieri

Henry Davies

Paul Manning

Directors' and officers' insurance

The Company has procured qualifying third party indenmity insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and all Group
companies. The Company has directors' and officers' insurance for the benefit of, amongst others, the directors of the Company,

which is in place at the date of this teport.

Disabled emplnyees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the applicant
conecrned. [n the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Company continues and that appropriate adaptations are made. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Employee consultation

The Cormpany places considerable value on the invalvement of its employeces, and has continued to keep them informed on matters
affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the company. This is achieved through formal
and informal meetings, the company newsletter, and regular emails. Employee representatives are consulted regularly on a wide
range of matters affecting their current and future interests and a staff survey is completed and reported on cach year.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Emergy and carbon reporting

The data reported on below include all sourees of Green House Gas (GLIG) emissions and energy usage as required under the Large
and Medium-Sized Companics and Groups (Acenunts and Reports) Regalations 2008 as amended. This has been compited in line
will (be "Enviramnental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance 20207,

Circle emissions and encrgy usage

For Circle Health Group, GHG emissions and energy usage date for period 1 January to 31 December

1622 2021
Tonnes of Tonnes of

COye COye
Gas consumption (Scope 1) 10,228 13,864
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes (Scope 1) 951 923
Emissions from electricity purchased for own use, including for the

11,758 14,237
purposes of transport (Scope 2)
Coal (industrial) (scope [) 068 877
Other petroleum gas (Calor) (scope 1) L4 14
Fuel oil (generator fuel) {scope 1) 320 189
Emissions from business travel inn employee-owned vehicles where 208 21
company pays for fuel indirectly (Scope 3)
Totak 24,638 30,325
Energy consumnption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 121,376,838 150,555,533
Revenue (£'m) 1,092 1,052
Tonnes of CO,e per revenue (per £'m) 23 29

During the financial year the Company continued to develop its systems and management approach to reduce its environmental

impact. The Health and Safety committee regularly reviews and evaluates apportunities to reduce our environmental jmpact and
related costs. The continued focus remains on the major utilities of electricity, gas, water and wastewater along with the material
commodities of both healthcare and general waste management and recycling.

The Environmental management process is broken down into two key management areas: Waste Management (including recycling)
and Utilities Management.

Waste management, including recycling elements, are covered and monitored by the Regional Health and Safcty managers in
cooperation with [ocal site Waste QOfficers; Ultilities management elements ave managed by the Regional Engineering Managers with
local support from environment officers and site engineers. This delegation of responsibilities makes best use of the skillset within

the teams.

The Group has followed the 2021/2022 UK Government environmental reporting guidance and used the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) and emission factors from the UK Government’s GHG Conversion Factors for
Company Repotting 2020 1o calculate these disclosures. The Group is currently putting in place new structures to support its
sustainability goals which will include detailed plans towards becoming Net Zero in line with the current government requirements.
Opvortunities to exceed those targets will be evaluated as identificd.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors’ report
far the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Disclosure of information to the auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
* 50 Far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
= the dircctor has luken all the steps that she or he ought 1o have taken as a director in order to make herself or himself aware of any

relevant audit infarmation and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that infermation.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Auditor

KI'MG have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor of the Company and appropriate arrangements are being made
for them to be deemed reappointed in the absence of an Annual General Meeting,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

A S—

Direclor: Henry Davies

29 Novenner...... 202
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors’ responsibilities statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of Directors® responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company financial statements in
aceordance with applicable law unid regutations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards
and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group’s profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of
the Group and parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to:

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

« for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

« for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

» use the going coneern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease
aperations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that arc sufficient to show and explain the parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable thein to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
delermine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.




Page 18

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (“the Company™) for the year ended 31 December
2022 which comprisc the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Incorue, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position,
Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statemient of Changes in
Iquity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion:

* the financial staterments give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

« the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in aceordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilitics are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requivements including the FRC Ethical Standard, We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Golng coneern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liguidate the Group or
the Company or to ccase their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the Company’s financial position
means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements

(“the going concern period™).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business model and analysed
how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going

concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

+ we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statemenis is
appropriate;

+ we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related ta events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt an the Group or the Company's ability to continue as a
going cancern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict alf future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that
the Group or the Company wil] contistue in operation.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Hdentifving and responding tn risks of materinl misstatement due i fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud {*“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit frand or pravide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

+ Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent
and detect fraud as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud,

* Reading Board and Audit and Risk Committee minutes,

+ Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management, and directors,

* Using analytical procedures to tdentify any unusual or uncxpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the
audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressure to meet profit targets and our overall knowledge of
the control environment, we perform pracedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk
that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a
fraud tisk related to revenue recognition because there are limited incentives, pressures or opportunities to perpetrate a material

fraud.
We did not identify any additional fraud risks,

We performed procedures including:

* Identifying journal entrics to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identificd entries to supperting documentation.
These inciuded those posted to unusual pairings with cash accounts.

« Assessing whetler the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias.
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations

We identified arcas of jaws and tegulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general cormmercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directars, legal team and other
management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors, legal team and other management the policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert 1o any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.
Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting

legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation legislation and we assessed the
extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)
Hdeutifying and responding 1o risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations (continued)

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a
material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation or
the loss of the Group’s license to operate. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: health
and safety, data protection laws, emplayment and social security legislation, fraud, corruption and bribery laws, environmental
protection legislation, public service procurement laws, regulations of the Care Quality Commission and certain aspects of
company legislation recognising the nature of the Group’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enguiry of the directors and other management and inspection of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Thereforc if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident
flrom relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with
auditing standards, For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and

transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedurcs required by auditing standards
would identify it,

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit procedures arc designed to detect’

material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-cornpiiance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors® report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial stalements does not
cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thercon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the dircctors’ repart and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial stateinents or
our audjt knowledge. Based solely an that work:

* we have not identified material missiatements in the strategic repart and the direclors’ report;

* in our opinion the information given in those reports [or the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

* in ouy opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion;

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

« the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retuins; or
» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in (hese respects.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors® responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 17, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements and for being sutisficd that they give a rue and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary o
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from miaterial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess they eilber intend to liguidate the Group or the parent
Company or ta cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do sa.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or ervor, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UUK) will always detect a malerial
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial

statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www. fic.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpese of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are vequired to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for na other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone otlier than the Cempany and the Company’s meinbers, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

%.MJWL__

David Simpson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

58 Clarendon Road
Watford,
WDI17 IDE

.1 December 54,



Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Notes

Revenue 4
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administralive expenses
Operating profit before exceptional items
Exceptional administrative expenses
Operating profit 6
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 25
Finance income 8
Finance costs 9
Loss before tax

10

Income tax credit/(charge)

Loss for the year

T.oss attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-contrelling interests

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

2022 2021
£2000 £2000
1,091,724 1,051,642
(898,146) (845,520)
193,578 206,122
(104,301) (111,860)
89,277 94,262
(39,175) (11,609)
50,102 82,653
- 3,267
336 54
(137,788) (137,376)
(87,350) (51,402)
6,985 (1,274)
(80,365) (52.676)
(81,400) (53,594)
1,035 918
(86,365) (52,676)
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Talance g5 at 31 December 2020

Amowints vesied ueder TFRS 2 (nate 243

TYirdinde

(Lass)profit and total comprehensive {espaiseliocone for die year
Balaned gs 2t 31 December 2021

Gther mavernents (nare 743

Equityesatiled share-based paymeni (nate 24)

Acquisition of non-centrolling interests (pote 15}

Dividends

L i and tetat i p for the year

Balance as 031 December 1022

“ihe noles on pages 28 ta 56 form part of these financkat statements.

Nan-
Share Share Accumylated Other contralliog
capital préglun Josses reserves Tatal fpterest Totaleqoliy
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £1000
2k 201476 01,406 - 24,391 1,585 95,976
- - 213 - 13 - 213
- . - - (71) aty
- - (51,594 - (53,504) 918 (52,676}
31 261,476 T166.457) T T e . aas | anfar
6 36) - - - - -
- 1281 11,181 11,281
- g - 39 (459 4
- . - - a% (1%
- - (81 255) - (81,155} 1435 (R0,120)
37 201330 24373 LBl __(28,615) 1989 ____(5g6)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
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Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net of tax):
Actuarial gain on scheme obligations

Actuarial loss on sclieme assets

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset

Actuaria] gain on defined benefit pension schemes

Net effect in reserves arising from movements on future scheme commitment

Tetal items that will net subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net
of tax)

Ttems that will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss:
Tax on equity-settled share-based payments

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive expense for the year

The above amounts were derived from continuing operations.

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£2000 £2000
(80,365) (52,676)
38,257 4,028
(38,669) (3,862)
1,353 8,373
941 8,539
(941) (8,539)
145 -
145 -
(80,220 (52,676)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statement of other comprehensive income.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 December 20272
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Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Lease liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

Loans and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
I.eage liabilities

Total liabilities
Net (liabilities)/assets

Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves

Accumulated losses

Equity attributabie to owners of the parent
Equity attributable to non-controelling interests
Total equity

Notes

i
12
13
14

i6
18

22
23
17

23
19
21
17

24
24
24

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
38,617 46,413
147,478 147,478
1,714,355 1,734,676
4,299 5,142
1,904,749 1,933,709
17,746 17,276
93,173 75,712
35,013 102,915
145,932 195,903
2,050,682 2129612
(178,756) (169,709)
(14,679) (17,086)
(14,159) (8,065)
(207,594) (194,860)
- (118)
(161,034) (214,038)
{4,412) (11,133)
(1,703,298) (1,666,021)
(1,868,744) (1,891,310)
(2,076,338) (2,086,170)
(25,656) 43 442
57 21
201,440 201,476
11,281 .
(241,423) (160,487)
(28,645) 41,010
2,989 2,432
(25,656) 43,442
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2022 (continued)

The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised
for issuc on .2 L INQNEIODEL... 2023, They were signed on its behalf by:

Y Yo

Name: Henry Davies
Director

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements,

The cempany’s registered number is 10543098,
The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XI1, England.
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Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash flow from operating activitics (note 26)
Interest received

Interest paid

Tax paid

Net cash inflows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received from associales and joint ventures
Purchase of computer software

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (note 25}

Net cash outflows from investing activities
Repayment of lease liabiities
Repayments of loans and borrowings

Loan transaction costs paid
Consideration paid for acquiring minority interest holding (see note [5)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash cquivalents at the beginning of the year
Casi and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

2022 2021
£2000 £000
199,080 184,393
336 54
(137,406) (129,727
(179) (3,728)
61,831 50,992
2,534 2,450
(857 (1,022)
(62,997) (57,153)
1,346 677

- 788
(59,974) (54,260)
(10,599) (13,496)
(58,000) .
{1,020) -
(140) -
(69,759) (13,496)
(67,902) (16,764)
102,915 119,679

35,013

@I

35,013 102,915
35,013 102,915
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 Decemiber 2022

General information

Circle Health Holdings Limited {the 'Company' or ‘Group") is a private counpany limited by shares that is incorporated, registered and domiciled in the United
Kingdom under the Companics Act 2006. The registered office is Ist Floor 30 Cannon Street, London, ECAM ¢XH. The nature of the Group and Company's
operations and its principal activities are set out in (he Strategic Report on pages 2 o §1. The financial statcments are for the year ended 31 December 2022,

Accolitting policies

Basis of preparation
The Group financial stalements consolidate those of the parent compuny and jts subsidiacies. The parent contpany financial statements present information about

the Company as & scparate cutily and not about its Growp.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards ("UK adopted IFRS™) and the
Companies Act 2006,

The consolidated and company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost conventian, as explained in the accounting policies below.
Historical cost is genetally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the goods and serviges.

Fair value is the price that would be received 1o sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in sn orderly iransaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation techinique. 1o estimating the fair value of an asset
ar a liability, the Group takes into actount the characteristics of the nsset or liability if market participants would take thosc characleristics into account when
pricing the assct or liability at the measurement dale. Fair value for measurement purposes in these financizi statements is determiined an such a basis. except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of TAS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities ta fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in [AS 36.

The presentational and functional custency of the Group and the Company is pounds (GBP). All financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

The Company has clected to prepare the Campany financial statements in aceordanee with Financial Reparting Standard 101, Reduced Disclosurs Framework'
{FRS 101). The Conpany financial statements have been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006 as applicebie to companies using FRS 101,

The Company financial statements are presented on pages 57 10 61.

The following exeraptions from the requirements of [FRS have been applied in the preparation of the Company financial statements:

« The requirements of IFRS 7 Finaucial Instruments;
» The requivement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statcments to present comparative information in respect of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of TAS I3

= The requirements of paragrapls 10(d), 10(f), 16, 3BA, 8B, 38C, 38D, 40/, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 to 136 of [AS 1;

* The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

+ The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounling Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimales und Errors;

+ The requirements of parapraphs 17 and [ 8A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures; and

+ The requirements in JAS 24 1o disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more mesbers of a group, pravided that any subsidiary which is

a party ta the transaction is wholly cwned by such a member.

The principal accounting policies for the Group and Company are set out below:

New and amended IFRS Standards thal are effective for the cerrent year

The foliowing amendments were cffective during the finaucial vear, The Group has pecformed an assessment and concluded that ne impact will be seenas a
result of these changes:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations—Reference to the Coneepiual Framework

Amendments to IAS 16— Property, Plant and Equipment-—Proceeds before Inlended Use

Amendments 1o IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets—Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fuifilling a Contract

Amendments to TFRS | First-time Adoption of International Finaneial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruntents, IFRS 16 Leases, and 1AS 41

Agriculture



Fage 29

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continned)

2

Accounting policies (continued)

New and revised IFRS Standards {n issueg but not vet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised TFRS Standards that lrave been issued but are
not yer etfective:

IFRS 17 {including the June 2020 Amendmenis to
RS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IFRS 10 and 1AS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets behween an Investor and its Associale or Jeimt Veature
Amendments to JAS | Classification of Liabilities as Curyent or Nan-cuyrent

gt:‘[:fcl:te;ts (0 IAS L and [FRS Practice Diselosure af Accounting Palicies

Amendmenis to 1AS 8 Definition af Accounting Estimales

Amendments fo [AS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assers and Linbilities avising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to IAS | Non-curveni Liabilities with Covenanis

Amendments to IFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to 1FRS 17 Initial application of IFRS 17 and 1FRS 9 Comparative Infoimation

The dircctors do not expect 1hat the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on she financial statementis of the Group in future periads,
except as noted below:

Awendments io IAS 1 Presenvation of Finagncial Statements—Classification af Liabllities as Currenst or Non-curvent

The amendaients to TAS | affect only the presentation of liahitities as current or non-current i the statement of financial position and net the emount or timing of
recognition of any asset, liability, income ar expenses, or the information disclosed about those jtems.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non~current is based on rights that are in existénce at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise fts right to defer settlement of a Fability, expiain that rights ave in
existence If covenanis are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of settlement” to make clear that settlement refers to the

transfer to lhe counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.
The amendments ate applied retrospectively for anaual perieds beginning on or afier ¥ January 2024, with early application permitted,

Amendinetss io IAS I Precentation of Fingucial Statements and [FRS Practice Statement 2 Making Matzriality Judgements—Disclosure of Acconnting
Palivies

The amendments change the requirements in LAS | with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The smendiment replaces all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with ‘material sccounting policy information’. Accounting policy infortation iz material if, when cansidered together with other
information ineluded in an entity’s financial slatements, it can repsenably be expected to influence decisions that the primary vsers of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in 1AS | are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information that refates to immiaterial transactions, other events or
canditions is immaterial 82d need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, uther cvents
or conditions, even if the amounts are immiaterial, However, not alf accountisig policy information relating to material trangaciions, otlier events or conditions is

itself material.
The Board has alsc developed guidance and examples te cxplein and demonstrate the application of the *four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice

Statement 2,
The amendments to [AS L are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Januaey 2023, with earlier application permitied and are applied prospeelively.
The amendments to TFRS Practice Statement 2 do not contain an effective date or ransition requirements.

Amendments to LAS B Accounting Folicies Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors—Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments replaces the definition af a change in accousting estitates with a deflirition of accauitting estimates. Under the aew definition, accounting
estimates are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

The definition of a change In accounting estimates was deleted, However, the LIASB retained the concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with

the following clarifications;
+ a change in accounting estimate that results fonr mew infarmation or new developments is not the correction of an errar; and
« the effects of a changs i an input or 8 measurement technigue used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result

from the correction of prior period errors,

The LASB added two examples (Bxamples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing 1AS &, which accompanies the Standard. The LASB has deleted one example
(Example 3) as it could cause confusion in light of the amendments,

The amendments are efiective for annal periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates
that cccur on or after the beginning of that period, with earlier application permitted.



Page 30

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 Jucome Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assers and Liabilitles avisiug from a Single  Transaction

The amendments introduce a furtiier exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the amend ments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition
exemption for transactiens that pive rise lo equal taxable and deductible temporary difterences.

Depending on the applicable tax Iaw, equal taxable and deductible teraporary defferences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a wansaction
that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise upon recognition of a lease liability and the
corresponding right-of-use assct applying IFRS 16 at the comimencement date of a lease.

Fallowing the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required lo recognise the related deforred tax asset and {ability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset
being subject to the recaverability crileria in IAS 12.

The IASB also added an illustrative example to TAS 12 that explains how the aniendments are applied.

The amendmenls apply to transactions that oceur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the

earliest comparative period un entity recognises:
+ a deferred 1ax asset {to the extent that it iz probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utifised) and a
deferred tax labifity for 21l deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with:

- right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

~ decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the cortesponding amounts recognised as patt of the cest of the related asser;
» the cumulative efect of initially applying the amendnients as an adjusunent to the opening balance ofretained camings (or other component of equity, as
appropriate) at that date.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or afier | January 2023, with earlier application permitted.

Golng concern

The Directors have performed a going Goncern assessment and concluded there is 4 reasonable expcetalion that the Group and Company bas adequate resources
to continue in eperational existence: for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial siatements, the going concern assessment
period, for the following reasons.

The Dircctors have considered the consalidated balance shect pesition of the Group, which reflects the cumulative impact of non-cash accounting charges
relating to impairments as well as the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges. The Directors have also considered the strang operating performance of the
Group and the strong operating cash {Jows, which are sufficient to fund the capital investment requirement of the Group.

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going concemn review and have also applied various sensitivities. These
forceasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the directars of the Company together with the underlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has
sufficient cash and facilities to provide liquidity through the review peried.

The Group’s senior Facilities (set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene Corporation, and financial covenants for
the facilities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial
perfarmance. The covenant reparting shows that the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates

that they wili be complied with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby Pure Health Holding 1.1.C (*Pure Health’) (a major healthcare
aperator based in the Middle East, with a range of international healthcare investinents) will, through its UK subsidiary, acquire Circle Health Holdings Limited
and its subsidiary underiakings from the Centene Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter of 2024. No material change to the
operating activities of the Group is expected in the period to clasing of the transaction.

The directors have considered the future financing amangements for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of the wangaction, inciuding the provision
of funds 1o repay existing borrowings and to provide warking faciiities. Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, fotlowing
completion of the transaction, this will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroom.

The directors da not believe there will be any material change to the scope or nature of the Group's operalions, following completion of the transaction and within
the going concern assessment period. As with a change of ewnership of any company, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future
plans of the praposed new owners, for the strategic direction of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the proposed acquiror and received
represenlations from them. Based on this, at the date of approval of these financial statements, the directors have no reason to believe that the entity will not

continue as a going conceri.

The transaction is subject to customary closing canditions, including repulatory approvals. In the event that these conditions ar¢ not met and therefore the
transaction does not close {or is defayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in place which, as noted above, provide adequate liquidity for the
Group.

After making enquiries and based on the evidence available at the date of approval of these financial statements, including reviewing the facts and circumstances

nole above, and the Group's forecasts and downside sensitivities, the directors have concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the
Company have adequate resources available to them, to continue in operational existence and meet its liabilitics as they fall due for the foresecable future, and at

least for 12 months from the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continuc to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financisl statements.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity controfled, direcily or indirectly. Control is regarded as the power 1o govem the financial and operating policies of the subsidiaty so as to
beucll Lo ity actvides, The financial results of subsidiarics are consotidated from the date control is abtained until the date that control ceases. All intra Group

transactions are climinated as part of the consolidation process.
Non-controlling interests ("NCI") are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of controf are accounted for as equity transactions.

‘When control is lost over a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities and eny related NCI and other components of equity of that subsidiary.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Business combinations

Under the requirements of IFRS 3 (revised), all business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method, The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable assets
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in & business combination are measured at their fafr values at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs
are expeused as incurred, An itstangible asset, such as a brand, i3 recoguised if it meets the defiuition of au intangibic asset under IAS 38 'Intangible assets’. The
cxcess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group's sharc of the identifiable net assels acquired is recorded as goadwill.

Goodwlill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately ure carried at cost less accumulited amortisalion and accumulated impainment losses. The
estimated vsefu] life and amortisation rethod are reviewed at the end of each reporiing period, with the effecy of any changes i estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis, Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried af ¢ost less accumulated impaivment losses.

CGioodwili arising on acquisitions is capitalised, hield on the balance sheet indefinitely and subject 1o an impairment review, both annuzlly and when there is an
indication that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Acquired contracts are separately identified from goodwill acquired as part of a business combination and are initially stated at fair value as &t the acquisition
date. The fair value attributabie is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset al the risk adjusted weighted average
cost of capital appropriate 1o that intangible asset, The asscls are amortised on 2 straipght line basis over Lheir eslimated useful lives which range from 9 to 15

years.

Acquired computer softvare (defined as soflware that is not corsidered an integral part of the hardware equipraent} is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific asset {estimated useful life not exceeding three years).

Brands are separately idenlified from goodwill acquired as part of a business combinaticn and are initially stated at fair valuc as at the acquisition date. The fair
value attribulable is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted average cost of capital
appropriate to that intangible asset, The assels are amortised on a straight line hasis aver their estimated usefu) lives which range from 5 to 15 years,

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from the provision of medical services to privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients at facilitics located across the UK.
At a hospital level revemnue js measured by patient type, being inpatient, outpatient and day case. The key driver for invoicing and accounting recognition is the
cuslomer ta whom the service is being provided. Management is required to take all relevant faclors and circumstances into account when delermining the
revenue recognition methads that appropriately depict the transfer of control of goods ar services to the customer for cach performance obligation. This requires
management to make certain judgements, including: the determination of the performance cbligations in the contract; the cstimate of any variable consideration
in determining the contract price; the allocation of the price to the performance obligations inkerent in the contract, and an appropriate method of recognising

ISVEIIUE,

In defermining the sppropriate method of recognising revenue, management are required to make judgentents as to whether performance obligations are satisfied
over g pericd of time or ot a point in time, For performance obligations that are satisfied over a period of time, judgements are made as 10 whether the output
method or the input method is more appropriate to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligaiion. If performance obligations are
not satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue at a point in time,

Revenue, which is measured as the fair value of consideration reccived for the activity performed, represents the total amounts derived primarily from the
provision of healthcare services in the UK, aficr deducting value added tax (where services provided are not exempt).

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance cbligations and reports these amounts as other
liabilities in lts consolidated statement of financial positior. Similarly, if the Group satisfies # performauce cbligation befare it receives the consideration, the
Group recognises either a conlract asset or a receivable in its consolidated statement of financinl pesitian, depending on whether something other than the
passage of fime is required before the consideration is due.

Management has undettaken z detniled assessment of alt revenue streams using the five-step approach specified by IFRS 15:
» Idemtify the contract{s} with the customer

- Identify the performance obligations in the contract

+ Determine the transaction price

+ Allocate the transaction price to the performance ohligations in the contract

* Recognise revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied
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2. Accounting polictes (continued)
Revenue (continucd)
Revenue can be broken dawn into the following main categories:
MNIIS Muspital Frovislun (any quahihed provider and direct contracting)

Any provider who is able to provide a specific service that meets the required minimum standards can be listed as a possible provider to defiver healthcare on
behalt of the NHS at national tariff. Paticnls chaose their preferred provider under the natjonal e-referral system (formerly the Choose and Book system},

Following the patients’ treatment and subsequent discharge from hospital, the Group will invoice the relevant Intergrated Care Board ("ICB") directly at tariff for
the medical procedure performed and recagnise the applicable revenue. The performance of the treatment is the sole performance obligation {represcating that
this is when the scrvice is transferred), and so the wholc tariff priec is allocated to that perfornimance obligation. No provider 15 guaranteed any volume or
cxclusivity. [ addition 1o any qualified provider revenue, some revenue is eamed from contracts with the NHS Trasts, with performance of treatments being the

sale performance obligation.

The Group also earned sevenue from central NHS bodies and tocal health schemes in England, Scotland and Wales under cantracts put in place to allow the
independent sector 1o support the NHS during the Covid-19 pandemic.

NHS Contracts with guaranteed payments

Integrated Cara contracts have a term, usually, of five years. The confract invelves a ‘prime provider' (Circle) who 1akes responsibility for coordinating and
managing the delivery of services across a local health systern. Circle's main contracting parties are the local commissioner {ICB} and local care providers. The
contract sevenue is recognised to the extent that the Group obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its performance and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration reccived for activity performed (in accordance with IFRS 15).

The annual revenue relates to the year beginning | Aprif and ends on 31 March in the following year. The revenue is determined at the beginning of the year, in
respect of the contract and any demographic growth in the local heafth system. The annual revenue is spread monthly across the year in a manner that vefiects the
proportion of total annual cost anticipated to be borne in that month. This is te reflect the contracts® main performance ebligation of coordinating and managing
the delivery of services ta patients, with the cost of these services incurred reflecting the compiction of the performance obligation,

Private and self-pay

Revenue is recognised based on procedures performed either at contractually agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determyined by the specific
procedure underiaken, The completion of the medical pracedure is the sale performance obligation, and so the whole price is allocated to that pecformance
obligation. [n the case of Private Medical Insurer revenue, the insurance companies pay the consultants directly and Circle recogniscs revenue for use of the

hosgpital, conswnables and other clinical services which are recognised as provided.

For self-pay patients, Circle recognises revenue when the performance obligation has been satisfied.

In accordance with IFRS 15, the Company 1ecognises revenue when performance obligations have been satisfied and for the Company this is when the services
have been provided to the Group operating ¢ompanics, Revenue is recognised ta the cxtent that the Company obtains the right 1o consideration in exchange for
its performance and is messured at the fair value of the consideration received for activity performed.

Other revenue streams
The Group has other revenue streams including administrative fees charged to consuhants, selling medical supplies to third padies and roce: rental. Under JFRS
[5, revenue is only recognised when performance obligations are salisfied, whether that is the provision of administrative services or kransfer of goods as part of

inventory sales,

Exceptional administrative expenses

The Group presents certain inalerial exceptional items and fair value adjustments separately in the income statement, if they are material becanse of fheir size or
their nature {sucl as acquistion related costs). The Directors congider that the separate reparting provides & clearer understanding of the Group's underlying

performance,
Finance costs

Finance costs ave recognised ot an effective interest rate basis in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are directly atiributable to the
acquisition or production of a qualifying asset which takes a substantial period of time o get ready for jntended use, such as the constriction of a hospital, In
such cases, borrowing costs are capilafised as part of the cost of that asset from the first dote on which expenditure is incurred for the asset, provided the asset is
determined to be economically viable. Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are complete.
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Accounting palicies (continued)

Investinents

Investeents in subsidiaries are valued at cost less pravision for impairment. The carrying value of fixed assel inveatments is reviewed for impairment when
avents nr changes in Cheumsivaces indicate the carrying value may nat be 1wuveralile,

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recopniscd at cost, which includes transaction cosls.

The carrying amount of the investment in associates and joint ventures Is increased or decreased to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
conprehensive income of the assaciate and joint veniure, adjusted where necessary (o ensurc consistency with the accouuting poticies of the Group.

VInreatised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those
entities. Where unrealised losses are ¢liminated, the underlying asset is alsa tesied for impaimment,

Property, plang and equipment

Property, plant and equipmment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and inypairment losses. Historical cost comprises all amounts directly
attributable to making asgets capable of operating as intended, including development casts and borrowing casis where relevant.

Depreciation is provided on ali categories of property, plant and equipment with the exceplion of fieehold land and assets under construction (see below}.
Depreciation is hasec on cost less estimated residual value and fs provided on a straight dine basis over tiie estimated usefui life of the asset as foflows:

- Leasehold improvements -- shorter of lease life or expected useful life (5-50 years)

- Clinical cquipment — 3 to 15 years

- Furniture, fittings and office equipment, {including conimissioning costs)— 3 1o 10 years

Right-of-use assets ate depreciated over the shorter period of the lcase term and the useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group cxpects to exercise a purchase option, the velated right-of-use asset is depreciated over

the useful Life of the underlying asset.

Residual values aid useful lives are reviewed ar the end of each reporting period. The expected usefil lives of the assets kr the business are rcagsessed
periodically in the light of experience. The cairying valies of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes of
circumstanges indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. An item of property, plant and equipment is derecogniscd upon disposal or when o future
ecoitomic benefils are expected (o arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an assel is delermined as the
difference befiveen the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss,

Assets under construceion

Development costs which are directly attributable to the development of property are capilalised as part of the cost of the property. The commencement of
capitalisation begins when development costs for the praperty are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset 1eady for use are in
progress, Capitalisation ceases when ali the activities that are necessary 1o prepare the asset for use are complete.

Commissioning ¢osts comprise staff, property, consttltancy and operational costs directly related to the commissioning of new build hospitals. Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset is determined to be economically viable, up to the point thai the commissioning is completc and the hospital is fully open for
business, subsequent to whicl further sesch expenditure ts charged to the income statement. Once commissioned, the asset is reclassified from * Assets under
construglion’ to the relevant property, plant and squipment category and depreciated on a stizight ling basis in accordance willy the eslimated useful lives os
outlined in the previous property, plant and equipment significant accounting policy.

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and property plant and equipntent

Far impairment testing purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest Ievels for which there are largerly independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a resull,
some assets arc lested individually for impairment and sote are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goedwill arising from a business combination is allocated to
cash-generating units or groups of cash-genernting units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and represent the lowest level within

the Group at which management monitars goodwill,

Cash-gencrating units to which goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use have been allocated are tasted for
impairment at least annually. All other individnal assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events ot changes in circumstances indicate

the canying amount may not be recoverable.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cosis to sell and value in use. In assessing value in uge, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the

estimates of futare cash flows have not been adjusted,

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unit} is estimated te be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is reduced to ils recoverable amount. An impairinent loss is recognised immediately in the income statement,

Impairment losses for cash-gencrating units reduce the first the canrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit. Any remaining impaimment
loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit.

With the exception of goodwill, all asscts are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment lass previously recognised may no longer exist, Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased ta the revised estimate of its recaverabie
amount, bul so that the increased carrying amount docs not exceed the camrying amount that would have been detcrmined had no impairment loss been
recogniscd for the asset {or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a riglt-of-use asset and a cortesponding lease
funlility wilh 1evpect to all lease prrangements in whieh it is the lesse, exoepl [ shotl-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term ot t2 months or fess) and
leases of fow value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furmiture and telephoues), For these Jeases, the Graup recognises the
lcase payments as an operating expense on a straight-line bisis over the term of the Icase unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which econamic benefils from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease lizbility is initially racasurcd at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate
implicit in the leage. If this rate cannot be readily determincd, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lzase liability comprise:

» Fixed fease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

* Variable lease payments that depend an an index ar rate, initially measured using the indox or rale at the commencement date;
* ‘The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

* The exercise price of purchase options, it the lessce is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

+ Payments of penaltics for terminating the lease, if the leasc term veflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lcase liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using lhe effective inlerest method) and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-af-use asset} whenever:

« The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a chapge in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, jn
which case the lease liability is measured by discaunting the revised lease payments using a revised discounl rate. The revised discount rate is the interest rate
implicit in the lease for the remainder of lease terin or if that eannot be determined then the incremental borrowing rate at date of reassessment.

+ The lease payments change due to ehanges in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guarauteed tesidual value, in which cases the lease
fiability is remeasared by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change ina
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). When lease payments are revised due to changes in an index or ratc used to determine the
paymeats the Group shall remeasure the lease liability only when there is a change in the cash flows.

+ A lease contract is modified and the lease medification is not accowmited for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease
torm of the modified [ease by discounting the revised lease paymenss using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
madification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any
lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost luss accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for casts to dismantle and remaove 2 leased assel, testore the sile on which it is localed gr restore the underlying assel o
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the 1sase, a provisien is recognised and measured under 1AS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-
of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets ave depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use asset, If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
assct o the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects 10 exercise & purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the us¢ful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the leasc,

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss in ling with the Tmpairment of
goodwill, ather intangible assets and property plant and equipment'.

Inventories

Inventories, primarify medical consumables, are stated at the lower of cast and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price less trade discounts, and is
determined on a first-in, first-out basis, Net realisable value means cstimated selling price, less alk costs incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Obsalete
and slow moving stock is provided for in the ipcome statement.

Where title never teansfers te the Group, consignment stock is held off balance sheet.

Financlal instruments

Recopnition and derecogmition
Finaricial assets and financial liabifities are recagnised when the Group becomes a party fo the contractual provisions of the financial instrument,

Financial assets are derecognised when the contzactual rights 1o the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financiat asset and substantially ali the
risks and rewards ave transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished. discharged, cancelled, or expires.



Page 35

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial stalements
for the year ended 31 Devciiber 2022 (continued)

2.

Accounting policies {eantinued)

Financial instruments (contined)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

The Group’'s financial assets include trade and other receivables.

Fxcept for these trade receivables 1hat do nat cantain & significant financing coraponent and are measured at the Lransaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all
financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into one of the following categories:
+amartised cost

«fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), or

~fair value through other comprehensive income {FYOCT).

In the periods presented the Group does not have any tinaecial asscts categarised as FVIPL or FYOCL

The classification is determined by hoth:

sthe entity’s business model for managing the financial asset, and
sthe contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All revenue and cxpenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance ingome or other financial
items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within administrative expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financigl assets a; mnartised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FV'EPL):

« they are held within a business niodel whose objective is te haid the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows, and
= the contractual terms of the financial assets give risc te cosh flows that ave solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is amitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.
Impairmeat of financial assets

The Group and Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit Iosses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables and conliact assets, Each entily uses a formula to calculate the expecled credit loss. Trade receivables have been grouped based on sbared
characteristics (e.g., payer type), Different eredit risk ratings have been applied to each grouping, including to reflect that credit risk increases as the aging of debt

increnses.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser type to reflect the varying credit risk. This percentage allowance reflecis the likelihood of default,
and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default aceurs.

Classification and measurement of financial liabslities

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and ather payables.

Financial fiabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs.
Suhsequently, financial tiabilities are measured at amoitised cost uging the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that arc reported in profit or loss arc included within finance costs or finance

income

Nonowings are classified as current liabiltites unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cask and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, overnight deposits other short-term highly liquid investments with originat
maturities of three months or legs.

= T,

k
b
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Accounting policies (continwed)

Retirement henefit plans

Payuwrents to defined contribution retirement benctis schomes are charged ns an gxpense a8 they fall due. Payments made {o state-managed retirement benefit
schicies are dealt with as payments to defined ¢ontribution s¢iemnes where the Company's obligations under the schemes are equivalent ta those arising in a

defined contribution retirement benefit scheme,

The Group sponsors a funded defined benefit pension plan for ualifying UK employees, General Healthcare Group Linsited Pension and Life Assurance Plan.
The Plan is administered by GH(G {DB) Pension Trustees Limited, au independent trustee. The Trustee is required by law to zet iz the bMerest of all relevant
beneficiaries and is responsible for the invesiment policy for the assets and the day-to-day administeation of the benefits.

The Group's defined henefit plan closed lo future acciuals and members with effecs from 31 August 2608, Under the Ptan, employees arc entitled to annual
pensions on retirement at age 65 for each year of service. The level of benefils accrued by members is based on the length of their Pensianable Service and their
Pensionable Salaries at the earlier of the date on which they left the Plan or the date at which the Plan closed ta the fumure accrual of benefits.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 30 Seplember 2021, The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost were
measured using the projected unit credit methad. The prajectsd unir credit method is an accrued bepefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make

allowance for projected carnings.
During 2019 the Trustees used the scheme assets fo procure a bull annuity to cover the current and future pension liabilities buy in.

The Group's net obligationt in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eaned in the current
and prior periods, discounting that amaunt and deducting the fair value of any pian assets.

The calculation of year end defined beneflt abligations {3 performed annualiy by a qualified actuary by using the projected uait credil method in the September
actuarial vahiation, rolled forwarded to the year-end date with allowance made for changes in market conditions. When the calculation results in the fair value of
the plan assels being greater than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, a surplus js created. The recugnised asset is limited te the present value of
economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of
economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requiremients. The Group does not expect Lo derive economic benefit from such
surpluses and as a result gains from 4 surplus position are nof recognised in other comprebensive income.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, whick comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan asseis {excluding interest) and the effect of the
asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in OCI. The Group detennines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit
liability (usset) for the period by applying the discount rate wsed to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginming of the annwal period (o tlie then net
defined bencfit Lability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liabilily (asset) during the period as a resull of contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related o the defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax, The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year, as adjusted for items which are taxable or
deductible in other accounting periods and items not taxed or disallowed. The charge is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the lability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the lax bases of assets and liabilities,
and their canrying smounis in the consolidaled £ jal . In principle, deferred tax liahilities are recognised for all taxable lemporary differences and
deferred lax assets are recoghised to the ¢xtent that it is probable that taxable profits will be aveilable against which deductible lemporary differences ¢an be
utilised. Such asscts and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference is due to the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition af an
asset or liability in 4 transaction (other than a business combinalion) which at the time of the transaction does not affect either taxable ar accounting profit.

Deferred tax Habilities are recognised for taxable terparary differences arising on investmenis in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable fiture.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are oftset when there is a legally enforceable right to offsct current tax assets against current (ax liabilities and when the
deferred incolue tax assets and liabilities retate to income taxes levied by the same taxation autharity on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where

there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax is cafculated at the tax rates that are expected 10 apply to the period when the asset is realised or the Lability is sertied using rates enacted, or
substantively enacted, at the cnd of the reporting peried. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income ar directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income ar directiy

in equity, respectively.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assels is revicwed at each balance sheet date and reduced ta the extent that it is no lenger probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 1ax asset to be recavered.
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Accounting policies (continned)
Provisions for other lighilities and charges

Provisions aie recogmised when the Group or Company has a present obligation in respect of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and it can he relialily esliumied. Provisions are discounted whers Uie tane valug sf money is cansidered to be material, using an
appropriate rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The unwinding of the discount is

recaguised as a finance cost

Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Company's sharebolders is yecognised as a Jiahility in the Group's and the Company’s financial statements in the period in whicl the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders.

Share capital

Oudinary sharcs arc classified as equity, Proceeds reccived, net of any direetiy aftributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital (nominal valoe) and
share premium {for any proceeds in excess of tominal valug),

Shared based payments

The long-term stock plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited allows for awards ta be made in the form of aptioas,
restricted stock, restricted siock units, stack appreciation rights and any olher stock-based awards, The Cirele grants under this plan solely relate to RSUs and
PSUs over $0.001 par value commeon stock in Centene Inc. and are accounted for as equity-seitled share-based scheme.

‘The grant date fair value of share-based payments awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with o corresponding increase in equity,
aver the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The fair value of the awards granted is cstimated on the date of graut as
the shiare price at that date, The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards for which the related service and non-market
vesting conditions are expeeted to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related
service and nog-market performance conditions at the vesting dalte. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the
sharc-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual putcomes.

Critical judgements and acceunting estiinates

In the pracess of applying the Group’s accounting policics, the Dircetors make judgements and estimates concerning the future, The resuling accounting
eslimaies will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual resulls. The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and could have a material impact en the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgements in appiying the Group's accounting policics

i. Tax

The recognition of deferred tax assets is dependent upon management judgement of the level of future taxable profits that will be available against which
deductible femporary differesces can e utilised, Sueh a judgement is based on cash flow forecasts that liave been generated, along with their expectations of
future market performance. In the event that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may impact the carrying value of such deferred tax assets in
future years. Based on the estimates used in determining the deferred tax asset position there remains £102.12 nyllion unrecogrised.

Critical aecounting estimntes and assumptions

The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

b Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, Right of Use assets, and other intangible assets are considered for impairment if there is any reason to believe that impairment
tnay be necessary, based on the judgement of managemant. All hospital fixed assets are allocated into cash-genezating units (CGils), being each individual
hospital operation, and tested for impainnent, if any indicators of impainment exist.

AL 3] December 2022, Property, plam and equipment, Right of Use, and other intangible assets were considered for impairment. The Group assessed whether
indicators of impairmient existed for each CGU and where indicators existed the Group assessed the recoverable values of each CGU using forecasts of the
profitability and the anticipated maintenance capital expenditure for ach hospital. Refer to note 13 for sensitivities performed.
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4.

Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Ceontinaing sperations
Provision of healihn we services by customer
Privale insured patients
NHS patients
Self-pay patients
Other patients
Other revenue

Revenue splil by patient type:

Inpatient
Quitpatient
Day casc
Other revenue

Exceptional administrative expenses

Impairment losses
Acquisition and infegration costs
Other exceplienal items

2022 2021

£000 £900

461,198 415483

325,057 364,625

257,734 228,740

170647 8,416

29,771 34,377

1,001,724 1,051,642

2022 2004

£°000 £000

409,823 327,966

312,616 277,092

301,896 245,439

67,389 197,145

1,091,724 1,051,642

Income statenient Taximpact Income stotement Tax impact
2022 2022 2021 2021
£7000 £7000 £°000 £000
37,901 - 1,391 -
504 (1) 4,101 -
630 @37 117 (22)
39,175 {39) 11,609 (22)

In both the current and prior year, the exceptional costs recognised were in relation to impairment charges following the annual impairment review of the assets
carried out at the year end. See notes k1 and 13. Acqusition and integration casts relate to the intergration of BMI Healthcare fotlowing the acquistion by the
Group. Expenses cantinue to be incurred us a result of the ongoing CMA requirements relating to the Birmingham market. Other exceptional items include sitc

alosure costs and debt refinancing costs.

Cash flow impace of exceptionals

The cash flow impact for exceptional acquisition costs was an ovtflow of £547,000 (2021: £2,883,000). The cash Aow impact of olher exceptional items was an

cutflow of £680.000 (2021: £117.000).




Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Page 39

6.

Operating prafit for the year

Operating profit is stated after charging/{crediting): 2022 2021
£'000 £1000
Anontisalion of intungible assets fuote 1) 8,672 11,805
1Jepreciation af praperty, plont and equipment (note 13) 96,520 93,651
Cost of stock recognised as expense 203,346 191,976
Auditor's remuneration (see below) 675 733
Movement in provision for bad debts (note 18) 905 (633)
Operatiag tease charges 487 4
Exceptional operating items (note 5) 39,175 11,609
Remuneration payable to the company's auditor 2022 2021
£°000 £'000
Fees payable to Company's auditor for the parent Company and
¢ lidated financial stat: L 193 195
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for other services
— The audit of Company's subsidiaries 479 535
— Advisory services 3 3
675 7313
Staff costs
The average monthly number of employces during the year (including executive dircctors) was:
2022 2021
Number Number
Management and administrative 554 399
Clinical and hospifal support 8,306 7875
8860 8,474
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2022 2021
£000 £'000
Whages and salaries 361,801 327,655
Social security costs 31,134 26,179
Defingd contributicn pension costs {sce note 27) 19,869 10,037
403,804 363,871
Key management personnel compensation
2022 2021
£7000 £'000
Short-term emgployee benefils 5,037 4,519
Post-employment benefits 12 56
Long-term benefits - -
Termination benefits - -
Parent company long term stock plan charges 10,486 -
15,545 6,575
During the year, gement has r d the application of [AS24 in respect of Key Management Personnel. This previously included the Directors of the

company only. Following the acquisition of the BMI Heallhcare group in 2020 uod the subsequent i

and establishment of the new

governance structure in 2021, management now assess Key Management Personnel te include the baard of dirzclors and a number of other key personnel
responsible and invalved in key committees taking decisions relating to directing the operations of the Group, The table above reflects the compensation,

including long term incentive awards pranted under Centene stack plans, for Lhis group for both the years ended 31 Decentber 2022 and 2021,
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7. Stall costs (continued)

Divectors' remuneration

2022 2021
£2000 £:000 ;
1
Aggregate emoluments 2,291 2,671 t
Company contributions to money purchase pension scheme 3 [ !
2,294 2671 '

Directors’® emoluments relate to the company’s Directors, who are remunerated by Circle Healtly Holdings Limited, CHG Management Services Limited or Circle
Healsh Group Limited.

Post-employment benefits are accruing for one director {2021: one director) under a defined contribution scheme.

The cmelwnents disclosed above include the following amounts paid to the highest paid Direclor:

2022 2021

£2000 £7000
Aggregate emoluments 1,121 1114
Company contributions to money purchase pension scheme 3 6
1,124 1,120

The Directors of the company are alsa directors or efficers of a number of other companies within the ultimate pavent group and are remunerated in respeet of
services provided to the Circle Health Holdings Group. The Directors do not consider the time spent on individual company matters 1o e malerial and therefore
have not sought ta separate out their costs in respect of services to each individual compary in the Cirele Group. The amounts disclosed above are the Directars’
lotal emoluments as per their cmployment coniracts,

§. Finance income

2022 2021
£000 £2000
Interest income 336 54 1
36 54 |
|
9. Finance costs |
2022 2021
£000 £000
Interest expensc under IFRS16 on lease liabilities* 120,714 119,366
Interest on bank syerdrafts and loans 17,074 18,010
137,788 137,376

*£119.3 million (2021: £118.5 million) relates to the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use properties and £1 .4 million {2021: £0.9 million) rclates to
the interest expsuse incurred on IFRS 16 right of use equipment assets held on finance leases.

Interest on bank overdrafis and loans includes £6.6m of finance vosts written off as part of the Group's debt refinancing (notc 19).
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10. Tax on loss on ovdinary activities:
The tax charge/{credit} is based on the loss for the year and comprises:
Carporation income lax:
Current tax at 19%
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Deleued ax:

Cuirent year charge/(eredit)
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Tatal tax on loss on ordinary activitles
Tax cliarge in other compreliensive income

Tax charge/(credit) recognised in other conprenliensive income
Effects of change in rate of tax

Total tax 1o other comprehensive income

I.oss before tax:
Tatal operations

Less: profit of joint ventures and associates

Grougr loss on ordinary activities on continuing operations before tax

Tax at the UK corporation tax raie of 19%
Effects of:

Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Income that is not taxablc

Dispasal of assets

Movemeni in deferred tax not recognised

Deferred tax recognised in equity

Effects of change in rate of tax

Adjustment to tax charge/(credit) in respect of previous periods

Tax chargel{credit) and effeclive tax rate for the year on continuing operations

2022 2021
£000 £000
194 (821)
(603) 202
(409) (619)
(10,819) 1,718
4,243 174
6,376) 1,893
(6,985) 1,274
(H12) -
(33) -
(145) B
{87,350) (51,402)
(1,691} (4,105)
(89,041} (55,507}
(L6,918) (10,546)
5,690 1,069
(1,608 (1,827)
(595) 618)
2,048 10,604
145 -
612 2216
1,640 376
(6.985) 1,274

The tax ratc for the current year and prior year is 19.0%. The Finance Act 2021 has incrensed the rate of corporation tax te 25.0% fom 1 April 2023. As this

change was substantively enacted at the balance sheet date its effect bas been included in these financial statements,
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i1,

Intangible assets

The amortisation charge for the year ia included within the Congolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income within administrative expenses befors exceptional
items.

Coniracts and

Stakeholder Computer

Cast Brand relationships software Tatay

£°000 £000— £'000 £1000
As at 31 December 2020 20,600 40,600 10,369 71,560
Additions - - 1,022 1,022
Transfers from tangible fixed assels - - 544 544
As at 31 December 2021 20,600 40,600 11,935 73,135
Additions - - 857 857
Dispesals - - (68) (68)
Transfers from tangible fixed assets - - 41 41
As at 31 Digeember 2022 20,600 40,500 12,765 73,965
Accumulaced amaortisation and impalrment
Asat 31 December 2020 4,965 5,492 4,460 14,917
Amortisation charge for the period 2,040 4,511 5254 11,805
As at 31 December 2021 7,005 10,003 9,714 26,712
Amortisation charge for the period 2,040 4,537 2,096 8,672
Drispasal - - 49 49
Tmpairment - - 2 2
As at 31 December 2022 9,045 14,540 11,763 35,348
Net book amount
At 3] December 2021 13,595 30,597 2,221 46,413
At 31 December 2022 11,555 26,060 1,002 38.617

Tntangible asscls that are subject to amottisation are considered for impairment when events of changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

Contracts and Stakeholder relatlonships
Circle holds several cantracts with a number of FCBs which allow the Company to provide specific clinical services. The contracts athact value given the

exclusivity they provide Cirele with regard to service provision.

The value of these contracts are amortised over nine years from April 2017, the date that they were acquired, which represents the estimated remaining econotnic
useful life of the contracts,

On the acquisition of BMI Healthcare a further £37 million was recognised under this category, which represents relationships with practising medica]
professionals held by BMI Healtheare as at the 8 January 2020, This asset is being amortised over nine years.

Brand

Cirele has a well-known and respected brand in the areas where it operates hospitals, It is also known across the UK, in the healthcare industry ameng cansultants
and suppliets.

The value of the brand is amortised over 15 years from April 2017, which represents the estimated remaining economic usefu! lifa of the brand. The value of the
Circle brand is apportioned across the different cash generating nnits (CGUSs) of the Group.

On the acquisition of BMI Healthcare a further £5 million was recognised under this category, which represents aecounting value atiributed to the BMI
Healtiicare brand. This is being amortised over five years.

Computer software
Compuler safhware represents costs incuired in relation to the Group's information tecbnokgy systems and is being amortised aver pericds ne mare than 3 years,
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12, Goodwill
£0060
Net Book Amount as &t 21 December 2020 147,478
Mer Bonk Amount as «f 31 December 2021 147,478
147478

Net Book Amount as at 31 Dracember 2022

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing annually, or rmare frequerntly where there are indications that the gocdwill nay be impaired. The recoverable amouats
of all cash gencrating units (CGUs) arc determined based on value in use caleulations, using discounted pre-tox cash flow prajections based on management
approved financial forecasts for the period of the contract, The key assumptions for these forecasts are those relating to revenue growdh and decline, based on
past experience and expectations of future changes in relevant CGUs. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial plans

appraved by anagement for the period of the contraet.

The time period over which management has projected cash flows varies based an each CGU, based on the financial plans approved by management. The
financial plans reflect past experience and incorporate assumptions in lerms of volumes, the mix of patient treatments and tariff changes. This takes into
consideration contract lengths. Any projections for future years beyond the period in financial plans approved by management are extrapolaled at a growth rate of
2% based on past experignce and future expectations, The discount rate used is 8,35% (2021: 8.38%), which is the estintated weighted average cost of capital for
the Group. All CGUs are funded using the Group’s senior facilities and therefore the Group discount rate has been applied to alt CGUs in determining the value

in use for impairment.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the carrying value of each of the CGUs, There are no reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions that
could cause the earrying value of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amourtts.

Based on the resolt of the value in use calculations undertaken, the Directors conclude that the recoverable amount in the infegrated care and private hospitals

CGUs exceed their carrying vaiue,

Allocatton of Goodwlll to each CGU
2022 2021
£000 £2000
Private haspitals (including BMI Healthcare business acquisition) 146,688 146,688
Integrated care . 790 750
147,478 147,478

Goodwill has been aliocated to each CGU based on an implied purchase price for each CGU during the 2cquisition by Circle Health Holdings Limited, and the
net assets held by cach CGU at that time. A discounted cash flow approach was used to assist in allocating the purchase price to those CGUSs.
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13, Properey, plant and squipment

Cost

At Jenuary 2031
Additions.

Disnosals

Teinefera

Transfera ta intangible assels

At Al December 1021 and 1 Fanuary 022

Addions
Disuosats
Transfers
Tiausfezs w Inanuible wsers

A1) Decemiber 2021

Righl-of-use azscts

A 13ded depreelation and &

At} dacuary 2021
Depreciation charpe for the year
Disposals

Transfers

Inipainment {eharee)ireversal

At M December 2021 and | Janaary 2011

Depredation charge for the year
Disposals

Transkrs

dmgaimoest Ceharee Mtoversal

At 31 December 2021

HNet ook anouni
At 3{ December 2021

At 2 Beeeruber 2022

Furnfture, Furnilure,

Bulldingy and fittings and fittings and

As<eld nader Teasehald Cliukeal offlee Citnlecal office
i I cquipment equipment Bullings equipntent equipriteat Total
£2000 £ond £'040 E'000 7000 £'000 £7000 £009
25,100 403,347 58,590 8141 1682132 15392 2,822 1,893,045
25,513 19410 i5012 3384 45,128 19,762 - 134,143
%) (19) (23} @) (64.036) - {2,185) (86,417}
12,37 FIREN] [FRLIEN) 12,8L%) - {1,190 2,128 -
[E22H - - - - - - {314
57,988 131,623 71517 11,355 1644124 34,782 1,166 1,957,258
22,543 17,881 18,795 9,955 424326 16,212 - 128212
@,131) 6,665 (5.202) 243) 16.570) (13 1k (22,2969
{18,040) 16,260 1,618 155 . B . !
1) - - - - - - 1y
59,612 161,105 87,739 pilvRed — 167&780 51,081 094 2,963,133

Furnitare, Furniture,

Buildings and Notingeand filtings and

Assels under leaschald Clinteal office Clnical office
conslruction i it qulp Dulldings equipment tquipment Totay
£1000 £'000 £'900 £1000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
(1.568) 16,337) {8,332) {97,386y (6,698) {49 {127,363
{10,703) (16,508} (1,541 {60,859) {91 [£310] (93,651)
- - 16 b 4,716 - 1,028 5821
- - (2611 649 - 26) (a1 -
(2,632) 415 677 4 (2,80 1,289 - {2,390y
{1,532) {17,838) 22.415) 9:211) {£60.919) {9,063) (506) (222,542
(11.546) (15,006} (4021) (58.822) (6,743) (332) {95.528)
- 266 5401 258 2558 12 - 211
- 4 (399) 585 - - - .
(384) (§,8573 (@, 181 (272} (25576) {2,426} {337 {37.894)
3,215} (30,559) [36.968) (12631% 243167y 118,120) (923) (345.778)
53,349 i15.787 36012 2643 1,33 oS, 25,718 1,760 1734676
55,356 1304468 d%77 £.097 IRELAIT 12861 1,074 4,714,358

The cashflow forecasts used in the prior year inpaimment Teviews were reviewed against actual performance, Where indicators of impairment exist, inipairment tests ware performed
using the recoverable amounts of the assets’ cash-generating units. Each hospital is deemed to be its own CGU. The discount rale used in measuring value in use was 8.35% per
annum (pre-tax) {202 1: 8.38%). The Company also estimaled the fair valee less costs of disposal of these assets, which is based on the recent market prices of assets wilk similar age
and obsolescence. The fair value less cosls of disposal is less than the value in use and hepce the recoverable amownt of the relevant asscts hos been determined on the basis of their

valug in use,

CGUs that recorded an impairmenl charge was as a result of specific local markel canditions impacting volume of future wrading, The inpairment charge for the year was £37.9
million (2021: £11.3 million} and the impainnent reversal was £ui1 (2021: £3.5 million), with the net impairuent cherge of £37.9 million (2021: £7.4 million) recognised in the

fa! lidnted Stat t of C

ive lncome.

The Group has canducted a sensitivity analysis on the langible and intangible assels impairment test of the CGUS witere there are indicalors of impairment and the group of unils

carrying value, as follows:

* If the pre-tax WACC rate Was incr

dby LOp

¢ point, the overall impairment would (inerease)/decrease by (£7.8) million/£9.0 million.
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4.

Tuvestmenis

Dretails of the investicais in which Circle Heaith Hoidings Limited holds 26.08% or more of the nantinal value of any class of share capital.

Froportion of

Company nonme voling rights  Shoue Registered affice Nature of business
held class
Subsldiary wndertaldngs
Circle International plc 100% tolding
CHG Management Services Limited 100% Holding and management
Nations Healthcare Limited 100% Holding
Circle Nottingham Limited 100% Provision of Lealtheare services
Circle Hospilal (Reading) Limited 100% Provision of lieallhcare services
Circle Birmingliam Limited 100% Pravision of healthcars services
Circle Rehabilitatian Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Health | Limited* 100% Holding
Circle Health 2 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 3 Limjted 100% Holding
Circle Health 4 Limjjed 100% Holding
GHG Heatthcare Holdings Limited 180% Holding
General Healhcare Gropp Limited 100% Lt Flaor 30 Holding
Bishopswood SPV Limited 100% N st Floor Provision ef healthcare services
Circle Health Group Limited 100% Ordinary Cﬂ!L"fudSIreel. Provision of healthcare services
) ndon,
Cirele Decontamingtjon Limited 100% shares Engiand, EC4M Provision of deconlamination services
BMI Syon Clinic Limited 50% 6XH Provision of heajtheare services
General Healtheare Holdings (2) Limited 100% Investment holding
General Healthcare Holdings (3} Limited 100% Investment holding
GHG (DB) Pension Truslees Linited 100% Pension Trustee
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% Tnveatment holding
GHG Leusing Limited 100% Provision of hgaltheare services
North West Cancer Clinic Linited 100% Pravisian of healthcare services
Runnymede SPV Eimited 100% Provision of healthcare services
GHG Mount Alveria Hospital Limited 100% Investment bolding
Generale de Sante International Limited 100% Investment halding
Circle Clinical Services Limited 100% Provistan of healilcare services
TKH Holding Lnd 100% Holding
Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Health plan subscription secvices
. . . Ordinary 12 Castic Street, Holdi
5, oldin
Circle Holdings {OS) Limited 100% chares St. Helier, Jersey, g
Associate undertakings and jolnt yentures
BM]I Imaging Clinic Limited 50% Provision of healthcare services
BMI Southend Private Hospital Limited 50% 1st Floor 30 Provision of healthcare services
Meriden Hospital Advanced Imaging Centre Limited 50% Oidingry  Cannon Street, Provision of hezlihcare services
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% shares En lnulld[;i“(l_'th Provision of healthvare services
Mount Alvernia PET CT Limited 419% g o Provision of healthcare services
The Pgvilion Clinic Limited 500 Provision of healthcare services
Cirele Hannony Health Limited 50% B t services
. L, QOrdinary  Rm 905-906, 8/F Houston Ctr, 63 M .
t
Circle Harmony Haalth Linsited 50% shaves Mady Rosd, TST, KLN, Hong Kong anagement services
. - ) &mi 145, 1 1/F, Carlion Bldg, No.21
Sl.1a|?gha| Circle Hamony Hospital Maniegoment 30% Ordinary Huanghe Road, Huangpu District, Management services
Limited shares

Shanghai, China

*Dircctly held by Circte Health Holdings Limited. All other entities listed arc held indirectly through investments in other group compaties.

Sec note 15 for changes in the Group's shareholding percentage in North West Cancer Clinie Limited that occurred during the year.

Subsequent to the year end the disectors of TKH Limited enfered into a voluntary strike off, with the company being struck off on 6 June 2023,
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14. Investments (continued)

Subsidiary audil excmption
The follawing UK subsidiary undertakings are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue
of section 479A of the Act,

Company number

Company name

CHG Management Services Limited 05042771
Nations Healthcare Limiled (4523677
Cirele Nottingham Limited 05153608
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited 06995585
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 10527747
Circle Health 1 Limited 12108493
Circle Health 2 Limited 12108325
Circle Health 3 Limited 12198431
Circle Health 4 Limited 12258549
General Healtheare Graup Limited 04026079
GHG Healtheare Holdings Limited 05740193
Bishopswood SPV Limited 04252401
Circle Decontaminalion Limited 06003075
General Heeltheare Holdings (2) Limited 04026992
Genesal Healtheare Holdings (3) Limited 04062897
GHG Tntermediate Holdings Limited 04210585
GHG Leasing Limited 01551992
North Wesl Cancer Clinic Limited 05706220
Runyymede SPV Limited 04252392
Circle Health Myway Limited 14186896

Circle Health Holdings Linited will guarantee ail outstanding liabitities that these subsidiarics are subject 1o as at the financial year end 31 December 2022 in accordance
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 g5 amended by the Companics and Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounls and Aodit Exemptions and Changes of
Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012.

Shares in associates and jolnt ventuves 2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Carrying amount of individually immaterial associates 657 276
Carrying amount of individually immaterial joint ventures 3642 4,366
Totul careying amount for equity accounted iuvestees 4,299 5,142

The Group accounts for all its investments in associates and joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements using the equity methed, as set out in note 3,

Individually immaterial joint ventures

2022 2011
£'000 £000
Summary of financlal information
Profit from continuing operations and total comprehensive income 3,902 2,535
There was no other comprelensive income or profit or 1oss from discontinued operations (2021: £nil) for joint ventures hield by the Group.
Individually immaleriat associates
2022 2021
Summary of financiat Information £'040 £'000
2,762 3,299

Profit from conlinuing opentions and tatel comprehensive income

There was na other comprehensive income or profit or lass from discantinued operations {2021 £ail) for associates held by the Group.
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15, Non-controlling interests

A3 December 2021, the Group had 2 subsidiary undertakings with a non-controlling interest. These were BM1 Syan Clinic Limited and North West Cancer Clinic
Limited. On 30 September 2022, (he Group pwrchased the remainiog 10% interest in North West Cancer Clinic Limited, increasing its owneeship from 99% to 100%.
Therefore at 31 December 2022, the Group had one subsidiary undenaking with a non-controlling interest. A summary of financial information for individually
immaterial non-controlling iatercsts are given bhelow.

22 2021
£7000 £°000
Total assets 8,444 4,536
Total liabilities (3,298) (1,052)
Hel assets 5 k46 3,483
Profit for the period 601 886
Net cash outflow {6) {6}
2022 021
£7000 £000
Aequistition of NCT
Canying amount of NCI acquired 459 -
Consideration paid to NCI {140 -
At Incregse in equity atuributable te ownters of the conipany 319 -
16, Inventories
2022 2021
£7000 £°000
Consumables . 17,746 17,276

There iz no significant difference between (e replacement cost of consumables and their cartying amount. At 31 Trecember 2022, an amount of £2.9 million (2021: £3.2
million) has been provided against the gross cost of inventorics.

17, Leases (Group as a lesses)

The Group has Jease contracts for hospitals, furniture, fittings and office cquipment, and clinical equipment. The amounts recognised in the financiat statements in
refation {o these are as foilows:

Amaounts recognised in the statement of financial position 2022 2021
£000 £°000
Right-of-use assets
Buildings 1,436,618 1,483,308
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 1,171 1,760
Clinical equipment 32,861 25,719
1,470,650 1,510,784
Lease liabilities
Cuwrrent (14,15%) (8,065)
Non-current (1,703,298) (1,666,021)
~ {L71745T (1,674,088}

Amounts vecognised in ehe statement of comprehensive incante

2022 2021
£000 £4000
Depreciation of right-of-use assels

Buildings 58,822 60,559
Fumiture, fittings and office equipment 3R 423
Clinical equipment 6,743 3917
55,947 64,899

2022 2021

Amounts recoguised in profit and toss £000 £2000
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 65,947 64,899
Titerest expense on lease ligbilities 120,714 119,366
Expense relating to short-term and low value leuses 487 4

The total cash cutflow for leaess during the period amount to £131 million (2021; £126 million),
The Group leases several assets including buildings, plamt and clinical equipment. The average lease lenm is 25 years (2021: 26 years).

The Group has options to extend lease term, as well as purchase certain equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured by
the lessors’ title to the leased asscts for such leases.
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18. Trade and other recelvables

Cnrrent Current
2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade receivables 85,424 57,219
Lees: provision for iupaiunent {4,656} 3.751)
Net trade receivabies 80,770 63,468
Prepayments snd accrued income 1,369 2,181
Other receivables 9,819 9,510
Tax receivable 1,215 553
33,173 75,712
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
£009 £000
At 1 January 3,751 4,384
Increasc/(decrease) in the year 905 (633
At 31 December 4,656 3,751

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade rceeivables during the year is reflecled within administrative expenses in the income statement.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

2012 2021

£000 £'000
Not past due 60,597 44,171
Past due -30 days 8,627 6,762
Past due 31-60 days 520 2,817
Past due by more than 60 days 10,026 9,718
80,770 63,468

Trade receivables, from contracts with customers, are non-interest bearing and credit terms are generally 30 days. The above receivables are not impaired because
manageinent believe they are fully recovenble,

As per [FRS 9, the Group follows the simplified approach ta calcutating a loss allowance far trade and other receivables.

Each site uses a fornula 1o calculate the expected credit loss ("ECEY). The expeeted credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's cwrent financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to (he debtors, gencral
ecanomic condijtions of the industy in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the eurrent as well as the forecast direction of canditions at the reporting
date, Trade receivables have been grouped based on shared characleristies (¢.g. payer type). This weighting is used as it refiects the risk of eredit risk, as ¢his risk
increases when the ape increases,

A different percentage allowance is used for zach purchaser type to reflect the varying credit risk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelinood of defaut, and the
anticipated shortfall of cash if defauit ocowrs.

The Group has not significanily changed the expecled loss rates [or trade receivables from the priar year based on its judgement of the imypact of ecanomic conditicns
and the forecast direction of travel at the reporting dale. There lias been na change in the cstimation techniques during the current reporting period.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the dehtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, €. when the deblor bas been placed under Liquidation or has entered inte bankrupicy proceedings, None of the trnde ceceivables that have been written off
are subject to enforcement activities.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not shiow significantly different loss patterns for diffccent customer segments, the provision for Joss allowance
based an past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments.

The Directors consider the carrying amount of casit and cash equivalents appioximate to their fair value.
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E9. Borrgwlnps
Nor-current Non-curreal
2022 1011
£'000 £004
Laans 161,848 219,848
frepaid finamee cosls t1€) (58101
— Teued 214038

20,

Secured barrowings arz nicasieed al amertised cost.
“Ihe Group held three printipal bank loans a5 et 31 December 2021:

() & boan of £ FRm which carried intereat af & rafe of 6.5 per cent nhove SUNIA as at 3§ December 2021
{b) a loan of £20m which carried interest at a rate of 3.25 per ccnt above SONIA 15 at 31 December 2021
{c}a loan of £20m which carried inferest at @ rate of 6.5 per cent above SONLA as at 31 December 2021

On 25 May 2077 the Group refinnaced its senior borrowing Facilitics with a new £250 millian, theee year, revalving facility. This facitity is gramnteed by the Group's uitimate parent company, Centens

Corporation and all are measurad ot 1h lidated Cenlene Corporation level Anfnitial L1802 mill
used to repay the ahove thres foans held st 31 December 2021 in full. During this tansaciion, caplitalisad prepaid Miance costs of £6.6m were wrien o(T 1o the C

Income within finance cests.

Lidated

0 ol |his favility was deawn on this date and 1his, slong with £38 willion of cash an bawd, was

At the year end, £360m of the new facilry repains dyavwn down. This balanos caries Interest at o rte of 1.25 per een( ghove SONLA as o 31 Deeember 1022 and is repayabile in full on 24 May 2025,

“The Graup atso bolds a number of unsecured loans with VAMED Manageinent ond Service Gmbl, a former sharehalder of Circle Rehabifitation Services Limited. The total balance of these loans autstanding
a5 at 31 Deceanbec 2022 and 2021 was £1 Bm. lutéres! neerues on the autstanding Faan hatance at = wate of 1,5%. Based on deeds of amendmient $sued in 2019, 1he loans and acerusd nterest are not expected to

be repayable before 31 December 2023. No amounts are due in more than five years.

Seepote 23 for an analysis of he maturity profile for the above loans.

Reconciliatten of liabillties arising fromn Anancing activities
At 1January Non-cash At 3L
201 moysImEnIsE Cash flpw December 1012
£2000 £'000 £1000 £7000
Losgas and uther borowings (214,038) (6,015) 59,020 (161,034)
T.ease Habilities {1.674,086) {53,970) 10,595 (L7457
Total {1,88%,124) (54,986) 49,619 (1,878,491)

*Non-cach movements are comprised of the following:

The net impact on kase liabilities of FFRS 16 right of use assel zddilions of £58.7 million, right of use asset disposals of £4.5 million and other non cash changes of £0. million.

Loans gnd ather borrowjups
Write off af prepaid finance costs fage nole 19) £6.601.

Amonisation of prepaid finance costs during the year £0.6m.

+ Deferred tax

The following are the nwior defermed Lax Tisbilities and assets rocognised by the group and movemeats thereon during ihe cuvent and prior reporting period.

Charpe Charge Chacps Effecis af change
ALl Adpsiments £ (erediti to feredil) to inlax rale Ar 3l
Januagy to income for income aquity 1o Incowy December
2023 prioy pefiods statemnent statesient 1022
EQ00 £000 1000 £000 £000 £Q00
Accelerated tax deprecialion (+,104) BA91) 6775 - 2,140 1,320
Biher timing differences {5,808) 1,485 {5,262) (145 (1 .478) (11,204)
Leases 1315 10,073 (1,392 - (440) 15,556
Lond end buitdings 10,319 - (474} - (150 10.295
Intangible nsscts 10.711 . (988) - am 2411
Derivatives 22,301 - {4,935) - 390 17,847
Tax losses {30,293y {3,828) {2,899 - (1,793 (38,813
Net deferred tax liability 11.133 4,243 (3,176} {i45) _(1.643) 4412

Deferred tax batances have been remeasured at (ke tates they are expected 1a teverse, which i mainly at 25%.

i
k)

4
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2.

1,

Neferred tax {conilnued)

Certain deferred tax nssets and Liabilitics have boen offset. The following is the analysis of the defeered tax balances (afler offset) for financial reporting purposes;

2022 2021

2000 E00D

Deferred 1ax liabilities 54,427 51,337
Deferied lax assels (50.015) {40200}
iL,133

A deferred tax lability of £00.30 million (2021: ££0.92 million) has been recognised in respect of fixed assets that have been acquired as pan of business combinations. OF this amount, £40.39
illion (20211 £11.21 iiilion) represents the deferrad 1ax liability on the valus of asscls that will be recovered through use and £0,29 million (202 1; £0.29 million) the defensd 1ax osset that is

enticipated 1o crystallise an an eventual safe of the remaining assets at eheir net book value,

Deftived tax assels selating 20 tax losses of £101.33 suillion (2021: £100.11 mitfion), and capital losses of £0.78 mullien (2021: £0.78 million) have nat been recogmised us there is insufficient

i
evidénce thal the assets will be recovered.

“Lhedaferrad Lax psset not recognised in the financial sitemcnts is as follaws:

20 1412 2021 2021
‘Tax value Grass value Tox value Gross value
£800 €000 EGH0 £000
Tax Iosses carried fonvard 101.329 105,313 100,108 400,431
Capital lnsses TR 3,ne ms 3t
Deductible izmporary differences — fixed ossels 17 kbl 137 629
308495 101,003 -

Deferred tax assels on lasses have been recogaised in accordapos with 1AS 12 in order 1o affsel knonvn 1ax Habililies. Wiilst profits ars anticipaled in lutore periods against which to elfsl
additional brought forward tax Insses, dué to the histery of loss making and the unceriainties faced by the private heatth market ane the sensitivity of this market to the Covid pandemic oo defericd
lax asset has been recognised on the basis of future profitabitity. This will cominue 1o be nonitered at each balance sheet date

Temporary differences trising i ¢ognection with inferests in associates and joint ventures are insignificant.

Trade and ather payablies

2021 200
£'000 £'o00
Trade payables 86,119 42,596
Agcruals FAREL] 70,211
Social security and otk taxation 204 250
Other payabifes 11,20 6,652
178,750 169,703
The average credit days is 35 days (2021 40 days)

on gervices parfy d Adwvance (& and billings are typically associated

Cantract liabilities consist of advance payments and billings (o patieets in ex¢ess of services provided and casts incurred and

with our sel'pay patients. All coutract Liabilities are current rnd are included within oiber payablkes. At 31 December 2022 1he Group had contract Eabilities of £3,05% million (2021: £5,625 millian). Revenue on

conlract liabilitics is wocognised when performance abligations have been camipleted,

Frovislons
Future
penslan
Pravision for eommiinient Dhapidatlops
Icgal claims s provislan ‘Total
L9000 £'000 £'000 £000
At [ January 2022 15,723 i54 1325 17,204
Additional provizion i the year 737 - - 737
Uiilisation of provision {2,926} {36 {300) (3,262)
At 31 December 2022 13,516 118 1,015 14,673
Of which fafling due:
- within ane year 13,536 118 1.025 14,673
- subsequently - - - -
d cosis of settl based on *s best estimunte on a case-by-casc basis of the

As is usual in dhe sector, the Group Is subject to a number of legal clajms. Provision has keen made for the
outcomes of settlentents, either in or ot of court, and v4ing a projestion of the cosls of claims incurred bul dot yet eepored.

The defined benefit pession scheme provision represents the Group's estinled faturs contributions to fiwe defined henefit pension schemes.

The dilapidations provision relatss 1o amounts dué in relation to various buildings that were vacated during priar yews.



Tage 58

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 {continued)

24, Sharzcapital and share premium

Autharlsed 2022 2021
i £
Ordunacy shares (Class A Ordinacy Shares) of £0.01 eacl: 9435 948
Ocdinary shares {Chiss B Ordinary Shares) of £0.¢1 cach 140 100
Ordinary shares (Class C Ordinary Shares) of £0.41 each 13 1o
Preference shares of £0.01 cach 56,019 19,851
57,004 20,906
Allotted and fully pald up
Par value Shares Share capital Share prentunt Total
Ordmary Class A shares: {number) E £
At ] January 2021 and 2022 Q.01 94,478 945 129,812.4048 129,813,393
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 54,478 945 129!512.-‘43 118, Bl3é93
Parvalue Shares Share czpital Share premium B Tatal
Ordinary Class B shares: {number) £ 3
Al Januacy 2021 and 2022 2.0t 10,000 00 399,162 389,262
Al 31 December 2021 and 2022 l&l)ﬂl) 180 399,162 399,262
Par value Shares Share ¢apftal Share premfum Total
Ordinary Class C shaigs: {number) £ i £
AL Januacy 2021 and 2022 a0l 1,000 %) - 10
At 3F December 2021 and 2022 1,040 10 - 10
Far value Shares Khare capleal Share premium Total
Preference shapest (umber) i H £
At | Jonuary 2021 and 2022 001 1,985,075 19,851 11,264,390 71,284,241
(2ther mavaments 0.0 3,617,750 36,178 {36,178 -
AL3! Deceiber 2021 and 2022 5,602,855 56,029 71,228,212 74,284,241

Righis of sharss
The rights of shares are conlained in Ihe Compaoy's Articles of Association und swnmarised below.

Voling

The holders of A and B shares bave the right 1a vole their shares at any generntmecling ol e Company. 1he bolders of the Prefercnce and Cshares bave rio entilement 1 vate their shares at any general meeting af
the Company but have tha right 1o vole a class meeting of the Preference and C shares, respectively.

Ingome

The holders of Praference Shares have 1he right to dividends declarod by the Company, provided that the aoiount o[ any dividend, in aggregate with other dividendsand distribitions 10 the holders f Preference
Shares. is not in axcess of the psid up amowt of those shares. Subject 10 any priorily distrihution of profils amongst ke holders of Preference Shares, flwe holders af A and B shares shali receive dividends pro rata ta
the paid up amount of those shares. The hotders of C shares have na rights o raceive dividends.

Capinl

‘The ights aF halders of diffesent classes of shares o capital under different seenarios, including exit vents, are set out in tbe Company's Articlcs. The priority of capilat is: 10 holders of Preference Shares, up ta the
paid up aniount of these shares: 10 holders of A and B shares, with the distribution between shares contingent an the nature of the event, the amount involved ood the retums (o defined groups of holders of A and B
shares; finally, 1o € shares, with b <ntittement to holders being contingent on the wature f the event and if the amount assaciated with the exit event invalved is in excess of defined tetum hurdfes 1o other
sharcholders, in which case the O shares Bave [he ripht to participate in relums above defined nirdfes.

During 2021, MH $ervices Interational (UK) Limited. which held 40 per cemt of the equity of the Company, aequired the remaining 60 per cent. This included acquiting all dhaess held by Dicectors of the Compary
and other employeas of the Group. All these shares had been acquired by these individuals at fair value fom other shareholders in prior periods. These amangements feil within the scope of 1FRS 2 and weoe treated
a5 an equity-saitled shace basad Imasaction. [FRS 2 tequires the (ir value at grant date of equity-scitled share-based payment aransactions to be expensed over (he vesting period with a comespending inersase in
squity, taking inte account the st available estimate of the nniber of shares expocted 10 vest under the senvice conditions. As the shares fully vesied in 2021, 3 charge of £213,000 was made to the intens

statement with 8 comresponding credit in squity.

On 25 Yanuary 2023 allsharas were redesignated as Ocdinary shares with their nghts setout in the Articles ol Association which were updated at that date.
Fareni Company Leng Term Stock Plan

Tl lang term stock plan i a stock plan put in place by the ultiznale parenl company of Circle Icalth Holding Limited. This stack plsn allows for awards to be made in the form of aptions, restricted stock, reswicted
stock unils, stock nppsccintion rights aad nay other stock-based awards. The Cirele grunts under ehis plan solely relate to Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs™) and Performance Stock Units {("PSUs®) over 50001 par
value cammon stock in Cetttene nc. and bave na cash cost to (ke Girele Group.

The accounting standards (IFRS2) requite an eecounting (non-cash) charge 1o be made in the fingneial statements of the Cirelz Group foc such awards, with the corresponding crodit taken 1o equity given there is ne
liabitity for the Cirele Group for shares awarded under the long term stock plan.

Duwing the year exded 11 December 2022 the titimate parent company granted RSUs and P5US under these stock plans to stlected dircotors and emplayess of the Circle Group,

RSUs granted io these directors and smployees are subjact to forfeituse if the employee terminates emplayment prior Lo vesting conditions being satisfied. PSUs are subject to an additional non-markel pecformance-
based condition which must be met 10 allow vesting to occur. The leve! of PSU vesting is determined by the level of sharehaldar vatue ganeration achieved-

The weighted average share price al fhe setilzment date for those for R$Us and P13 setiled during the year was 592.97.

The fair yalus of each R5U and PSU is estimated on the date of grant as the share price at the date of grant. The foir vatue of RSUs granted in the year was £14,237,000. The foir value of FSUs granied in the year
was £9,572,000.

The iotal accounting charge is cakulaled based on o number of factors and assumptions, and the amount secorded for the year related w employee shace-based plans was £11,231,000,
The tabla below gives o reconciliation of movements in the nurwber of RSUs and PSUs nutstanding

20422 PSUs 2022 RSUs 2021 PSUs 202! RSUs

Numbers* Numbers Numbers Nunbers
Outsianding at | January - - - -
Granted 156,225 188,485 - -
Seuled 2,160 (2,132) - -
Forfeiled (2,159) 4,230 - -
Dutslanding at 31 December 151,906 _ 281,623 - -

*The PSUs vest Letwasa (he range of 0% and 200% dependent on ihe performance achieved against largets sel.
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25.

17,

Dirposal of subaldlary {pricr perfod)

In early 2021, the Graup entered into o sale agrasment o self Circle Hopsital (Bath) Ltd and the transaction campleted on 1 June 2021 The divestmient was cflected as part of the agreed remedy fallowing the TMA
order issued as a resukt of the Group's acquisition of BAMI Healthcars in 2020,

Tha net liabilities of Circle Baspital {Bath) Ltd at the date of disposal were as follows:

1021
£900
Propedty, plant and equipment 21,330
Tnventorizs 62
Trude ond other receivables 1852
Bank balances and cash 1,063
Tradeand olher payables (26,284)
MNet liabililies disposed ol (116)
Giain ou disposai 3,267
Total consideralion 1,851
Satisfied by
Casii and cash equivalais izﬁﬁl
Net cash inflgw arising on disposal:
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 1,851
Less: cash and cash equivalcnls disposed af {[,083)
788
Notes te fhe cash flow stalement
Met eash flow from operating aclivities
w2 a2
£000 £000
Lass belore tax (87.350) {31,402y
Adfustments far:
Shara of profit of associates and joint ventuses {1,651} {+068)
Empatrmeut of fixed aSsels (se¢ nate 5) 37,501 7,391
Finance costs 131,788 137,376
Finance income (note 8) {336) [E2)]
Amartisation of inlacaihla assets (note 11) 8.672 11,805
Depreciation of right-of-nse propecty, plan ond equipmeut {note L3} 65,947 64,899
Depreciation of ather praperty, plan and cquipmeni (nate 13) 38,573 28,752
Lossiprofit) on disposal of fixed ossets 1,767 14,307
Profil an dispasal of subsidiary (note 25} - {3,267}
Amounis vested under IFRS 2 (note 24} - 211
Cquily-settled share -based payment tansaction (nate 24) i1,281 -
291302 237,254
Operatiag cashfows before movements [n warking capltal 204,552 205,932
Movements in working capital:
- Increase in inventeriey +10) {350}
- (ncrense)idecraase in rade and other receivatles {18,135) 3,537
- Increusel(decrease) in trade and other payables 13,313 {27,146)
192,050 —
Retlrement henelit plans
Defined contributian schene
The Group operates defined contribution refirentent benefit schemes for all its quatifying cmplayess.
022 01
£'000 £000
Tetal contribution costs charged 10 the income stalement in respest
10,869 10,037

of 8,455 (2021: 9,739 nembers
Conwibulians totalling £1,888,000 (2021 £1,678,000) were payable 1a the fund o% (e reportiog date.

Defined benefit schemes
The Campany sponsors a funded defined benefit pension plan for qualifying UK employers, the General Henltheare Group Limited Peasion uud Life Assurance Plan, The Plan is administered by GHG (D) Peosion

Trustees Limited, an independent trustez. The Trustee is néquired by taw to act int the intecest of all relevant iaries and ace responsible {or the policy for the asscts and the day-to-day adnvinisiration
of the benehts.

Lindee the Plan, employess are entitled 1o annuaf pensiens on retirement at age 63 for each year of service. The Plan is closed 1o furure accrual. The teve! of benefits accrued by members ¥s based on the fength of their
Pensionable Secvice and thelr Penstorable Salaries et the earlier of the date on which they left the Plan or the date nt which the Plan closed 1o the future scenual of bencfits.
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27. Retirement benefit plans {continued)

FPrafile of the plan

The Defined Benefit Obligaton (DBQ) inchides benefits for former empley ces and current pensioners. The benefits under the Plan wers socured by way of an insurance conlract wilh Avna m 2020, al which peint
about 63% of the babiluies weie auributable to deferred pensioners and 37% to cunent pensioncrs. The data supplied for this exereisc indicates a 16% shift in the lubdities with anly 47% of the liabilties now
sHrbntable trthe deferred pensinners and §3% in the coment pensiones

The Plan dwianon 1s an indseator of the weighted-a3 erage time until benefit payments are made. For the Plan as a whole, the dination 1s appiosimately 13 years.

Rivks associated with the plun
The Plan has now cold most of ug aseets and entered into an annuity contract with Aviva As snch, many of the risks it was previously esposed o have been remaved Investmend, inflation and longesity, tisk are
removed as Aviva are connactually obhiged w fand members' benefits in the future However. the Trustee sull reiams the legal responsibilily ta pay members' benefits to each individual memiber

Funding requirements
UK legislation requires that penston Plans are funded prudentds The last unding 1ahuation of the Plan v as camed out by a qualified actuary as at 30 September 2021 and showed a surplus of £3 7M Now that the
buy-n 15 complate, the Campany 15 a0 langer iy ing deficil cantributions The Plan is expecled (0 ransiticnt (2 bus~out 1t the near future and there wilt be no need for acuarial valuations in the future

Reporting @ 31 December 2022

The liabibties of the Scheme were salued as at 30 September 2021 using & data extract provided by the admimistratars for the purposes of valuing the benelits sceured under the insurance contract. These zesulis
were projected to the v aluaon date of 31 December 2022 allow ing for changes in market conditons. and differences i the financial and demographic assumptions, The present vatue of the Deflincd Benefit
Obligation was measured using the projecied uait cradit methed The dircctors consider they hase & right to am surplus assct on the final setdement of all scheme habilitics but hase not recogmsed an assei for tis
surplus as this 15 not consideted material to the inancial statemenis

The principal assumplians used Lo caleulate the habilities under LAS 19 are as follows

1022 2021

o Yo

Discount raic 48 20
Future pension increases 3.0 31
CPI inflation 21 26
RP! inflation 30 iz

The financial assumptions reflect the nature and Lerm of the Plan’s liabilitics.

Mortality rate

Pansioner life expectancy assumed as at 31 December 15 hased on the S2P tables with scaling factors of 103% for male deforred pensions. 0% for male current pensioners, 91% for female deferred pensioners
and for 8% for female current pensionars Future improvements m longes ity are assumed in Ine with the CMI 2021 projecuon model svith a smootung factor of 7 and a long term rice of tmprovement of 1 23%
pa Samples of Lhe ages to which pensionsrs are assumed 10 live me as follows

2012 2021
Lafe expeciancy for male currently aged 63 R6.3 863
Lafe expectancy for femalke currenly aged 63 By 2 82
Lufc cxpectancy al 65 for male cwrrently aged 43 R7.5 R76
Life expectancy al 63 lor female currendy aged 43 407 90 8

Sensitivity to key @ssumprions
The key assumptions used for LAS 19 are discount rate. mflation and mortality [f different assumptions were used. ths could have a materal effect on the identical valucs placed on the tiabilitics and the insured
assel, The sensitivity of the results to those assumptions 1s set out below

Change New value

Following a 0,25% decrease in the discount rate: £°000 £'000
DBO at 31 December 2022 (2,129 73,323
Surplus a1 31 December 2022 - 7,188
Following a 0.25% increase in the inflation assumption:
DBO a1 31 December 2022 1444 79.048
Surplus at 31 Deeember 2022 - 7,188
Following a ong year increase in life expectancy:
DBO at 31 December 2022 2267 79921
Surphys at 31 December 2022 - 7.148
Present value of obligation 2012 2021

£7000 £7000
Al beginning of the period 118,016 125,593
Interest cast 2316 L.721
Acmuanial loss (38.237) (4028)
Benefit payments {4,421) {5,270
At end of the year 77,654 118,016
Fair value of scheme assess 2002 021

£7000 £7000
At beginning of the period 126,389 133011
Expecied retum on scheme assets 1,484 1.839
Actuarial loss {38.669) (3.862)
Benelit payments [EX ] (5.270)
Administration expenses {941) (329

At end of the year 84,841 126,389
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27, Retirenient bepeflt plans (contnued)

Assef clastes of scheute assets
The Flan assets are invested in (he following ass2t elasses, All Invested assels have 2 quated market value in an active Tiarket. None of the asseis are invested in the Compuany™s fitancial instrunients of in property
occupied by, or offier assets used by, the Company.

2022 w2
£'000 £W00
Cash ingtruments and sterling deposits 6,803 %6y
Cash athank 385 3o
Ansity conmet 118,016
Atend of the year 125,289
The revonciliation to fi amaunt shown on the batance sheet is as fatlows: r 202
£290) £'000
Present value of obligation {77,654) (118,016)
Fair valyg of schems assels 24,842 126,389
Unrecogaised portion af sehemic assels (7,188 2,510
Wet surplus recognised - -
No anounts hayg beea ised i the lidated income for the curment ar privs year. The adminitration expenses for the plan are scitled by the scheme and are thercfore not recognised within the
cansoliduted income statement,
The net ascmnt recopaised in reserves s as follows;
31 Decembier 31 December
012 plo il
£900 £000
Actuaria) gain on scheme obligations 38,257 4,028
Actuarial losy gn schems assels (32,669) (1,862)
Movement in unrecognised pension surplus E,353 8113
Actuarisl loss on defined benefit peasion schemes 945 3,539
Net effect in yeserves arising from movements on fture scheme conuitment {941) {8339

Analysis of gains/losses
Overall there was 3 1otal actuarial 1oss of £0.4 mitlion (2021- £0.2 million actuarial gain) during the yezr, which is broken down os foltows.

Finaneial assumprions resulled in a gain of £33.8 millian , mainly due to the increase in the discount rate assumipiion. This galn wos partially offset by the increase in the RPY inflation assunption and cetated inflation-
linked inereases, Demographic assumptions resulted in a gain of E3.8 miltion, mainly duc to ¢changes in the mortalily assumption, in panticular updating the CM1 projection model, DRO experience resulied in a gain
of £0.6 milliaa, mainly dus to higher thin expected deferred revaluation and pension increases over the year, [huring the year, agset retums underperformed against the discownt rie. This was entirely dus to the value
of the primiary assel, e insurance eontrace, being et 10 equal the value of the Habifities,

Capilal comnitments
2022 2023

£'00n £'000
Capital camnmltments
Contracted for, ut not provided for, acquisilion of property, plant and equipment 26,519 15,875
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19, Financkal Ins¢ruments and finsuclal risk management

The Group's operatlons expases if ta a variety of financial risks, that incheda market risk {including interest risk and price risk), credit risk, faquidity risk and cpital risk Fhe Group secks to limit the adverse efects
ofthese risks by monitoring Levels of debt finance and the setated finance costs, and by matching the risks af'the financing with the risk and retum profiles of the assets. The risks are monitore¢ by manageatent
thraughout the year via monthly reviews of (e aperational perfarmance, cashfows, and levels of debt instruments and overall debt levels.

Classes of financlal insiruments

The Group's financial instruments conprise of financial esstessuch as cash, short-temn deposits, trmde and other reccivables, financial hizbilities such as bank lons, loan cotes, and trode and ather payables.

Tl following table classifies the Group's finaacial assels and liabilities.

022 2021
Fuwe . £000,
Financlal asseds at amortised ¢ast
Trade end ether receivables (nate 18) 91,958 75,712
Cash and cash equivalents 35013 102915
Total financiak assely at amarilsed cost 126,97¢ 178,617
Financlal abilities al omortlsed cost
Trada and ether payables {nole 22) (178,552 {99,248)
Lease inbilitics (oo 17) 1,717,457 (1,674,086)
Laans and ather borrawings {noie 19} 161 848} {209,848)
Total Noaackal liabilitles at amortised cost (2,057,857) 1,993,182)

“The group has no financial instruments elassified a5 fabr vafue throwgh othee comprefiensive income or fair valug through profit and loss.
a) Market risk

Market tisk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as inlerast rales or other pricesisks, Wil affect the income from or the value of financiol instruments. The objective of madket risk muasgement is 10 manage
and control market isk exposire within acceplable parameters while oplimising the returm on risk.

The ireup is primarity impacted by interest rate visk and wiher price tisks which arc outlined betow:

1) Tntevast rate risk
Financial instrumems afecied by interest cale risk include loans ond ether Lormowings, The Group is primarily sensitive (o changes in UK ioteres! rates, This affects future cash fows from loans and borrowings

held.
Fived
£'000
AL 31 December 2612
Loans aug other bomrowings (note 19) 161,848
At 31 Decemfier 2021
Laans and other bamawings {note 19) 219,848

1} Qther price risks

The Group has a murnher of Joag-lerm contracts containing fised indexation provisions. The Croup generally secks tw price contructs at fevels that (ake sccount of increasing prices, As the volume of privale
patients is anticipated to ncraase in the future, the Group will be inereasingty subject to peicing changes from private usurance compantes.

The integrated cace contracts operate under a capped revenus budget, The underlying principle assumed thal the service can be run mare efficically. improving patient experience and reducing operationalcosts,
Nevertheless, the Graup hears the risk of rising aperational costs as the baseline revene is fixed subject to lacal demographic or service portfolio changes.

by Credit rlsk

Ceedit risk i» the risk if financial joss to he Group is a custamer or counter-pary 1o & financial instoumnent falls to mect its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the lroup's reccivable from cuslonkrs
and eash deposits, with el maximiun exposure being represented by their carmying amoum.

Tha Group has policies with sustomers that require unfront payment, where appropriate. Credit control procedures are designed to ensure hat invoiced revenue is collected according 1o agread 1erms, thal policics
cxist 10 lioit exposucs 10 any one party snd casure approved eredit limits are reviewed regularly. These help to eliminate siguiticant concentrations of credit risk.

Most revenues aris¢ om insured patents' business and the NHS. Insured patients give risé 10 trade racaivables which are mainly duz from large insurance instilutions, who have hiyh credit worthiness. The
remainder of reveaus arises fram individual self-pay patients.

tn accordarce with TFRS 9, an expected credit less model is used (o caleulate the pravision for impaiment. This expacied credit lass takes into cansideration the age of debtor balances, and the characteristics of the
debtor. Credit risk managamenl services are designad to try and reduce the expacted credit loss to a minfrzum.

When wilising bank accounts and cash epasits, the Group transacts with countérparies who have sound crodit profiles. Such counterpartics arg primarily large, highly rated financial institalions. Tn s2lation to
financial insbiutons, the Group atlcoated s credil Ymit based o external eredit ratings. The ¥s tolal i Tons with the Group including bauk accounts ead cash deposits must not excead

limits agraed by the Boaed af Directars

) Liquidiry risk

Liquidity Tisk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficaity in meeting its financial obligalions as they fall duc, The Group's approack 10 liquidiy is 10 manage shert and long-term banowings to ensure that it
will always have sufticient liquidity (o meets its lisbililies when dus, withowt incurring unaceeptable lossses or risk daneaging the Group's reputation

, by applying cash coliextion targets throughout the Group and by managing liquidity risk via long-tern debl and equity fuading frem

This is achieved by robustly ing cash p ion 201055 its op
shareholders.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-desivative and derivative financial liabilitics inta relevant maturily groupings based an the remaining peried al the balance sheet date to the caniract malurity datc. The
amounts included in 1he tohlo ace the contrieiual undiseounted cash aws:
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g,

30,

3.

w
bl

Financial instramments and financlal risk masagement (ventinuedy

) Liquldity risk fcontinvedy

Less than | yeae DBetween 1-1 years Bedween 2-3 years Between 3-5 years Qver 5 years
At 3 Pecentber 2022 £'900 £'000 £'000 £1000 £'000
Trade and other payables (nple 22) (178,352) - - - -
Lease Fabilities (note L7} (133,069) (138,245) {140,906) (286,985) (3,525,988)
Lones and oth, lappowies neke 19) - o {160,008} - -
Net qutflans 316,620) (140,093} (300,905} (186,985) (3,529,948
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payahles (Bote 22) 19%,248) - - - -
Lease Bahilities (nole L7} (126,035) {178,281} (129,746} (269,664) (3,387,243)
Laans and otker barrowings (nate 19) - - - - {219,848)
Net outflnys (225,303) (128,243) (125,746) (264,664} (3.807091)

Lease liabititics cashflows 2rg discounted 18 arrivs al the balance sheel position per note 17. The inpact of the discounting is £2,516.7 million {2021: £2,656.7 million) over the remaining Lerm of the leases.

d} Capital mznagemenl

The peimary objeclive af1he Group's management of debt and equity is 10 snsure the coctinued gronth of the business, inclduing the Grancing ¢lnew hospltak, equipment und stant-up costs, including Head Office
costs, in order to provida tetums for Uie Group shareficlders sad other stakehofders, The Group rises faancing wien needed firogh o combination of debt and equity.

Ohbjectives are set ont at e beginning of each year, in hne with the imposed requiramcots and covenants of he sharcholder agreeizniz. Covenanta on the debt facilities wilised by the Group are tasted on 3 quasteriy
Basis.

Evenis alter the repariing pericd

On 28 August 2023, it was d thal a definit had been signed whereby PureHealth will acquira Circte Health Graup from Cenlene Corporation with the ransaction is expecied 10 clase in the first
quarter of 2024, The directors do not believe 1hal this transaction has any naterial impact on the balances rasorded o the disclosures presented in these financial statemeats. At the date of signing the ultinate
contralling party remains wmghanged, being Certene Corporation.

Rrtated party transactions

Trading fransactions wlth suhsidlaries

During the finzncial year, trading transactions with the subsidiacies listed jn note 14, ovenrred thraughout the year a8 pant of the normal conrse of business,
Remuneration of key mamigement persennoel

See note 7 for detals on remymeration of key nanagenient persennel

Orther related parly transactions
Balaice sutstanding os al

ransactlons
T 31 December

2022 2021 2012 1031

£'000 £'300 £o00 1009
Ribera Salud Graup (subsidiary of the Group's uliimae parent) * (1.435) (1,226) - -
Asgsociates (1,337) 1682 27 L&10
Joint venlures (32) 788 {843 {53)

*Transactions with Ribiers Salud Group related 1o consnltancy serviees poived. Ribara Salud Group cezsed (o be a related party doring the year as the Group's ultimate parent campleted ils diverstilure of Ribera
Salud Group in Moversber 2022,

Transactions with associates and jotat venrure oconmed throgliout the year as part of she narmal course af business

The rotal dividends teceived from associates and joint ventores during the year ean be seen in the cashflow siotement. Al dividends deciarcd were paid in the year and there were no dividends recievable st the year
end.

Tha above refated party Balances arc wnsecaeed, incur o interest and are repayable an damand No expense has béer recogrised in the current ar prior year for bad or doubfil debts in respoct af thiese amaunts. Tig
above related parly balances are included within ather raceivables and payables respectively.

Coatralllng party

The Ditectors regard MH Seevices Interaatfonal (UK) Liraited, 2 Campany f2gistered in Enigland and Wales, as the Company's immediate parent undenaking, as al the 31 Do¢zmiber 2022, The Directors tegard
Leatene Carparation as the Company's ullimate parent undertaking and contraMing party 45 st the 11 Decentrer 2022

Circle Healih Holdings Limired is 1he parent undertaking of the smallest group for which consoliddtad financial staicments are prepared that include the financiul statements of the Company. Cemene Coiparntion is
the parent undertaking of the largest group for which consolidated financial statenwnts are prepared that include the financial statemeats of the Company, Centene Cocporation is & publicly traded cotopany
incamarated in the Unleed Stares of America. Cetent Corporation's registered address is 7700 Porsyth Blvd,, Su Louis, MO 63105,
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Fixed assets
Investments
[Loans to group companies

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium

Other reserves
Accumulated losses

Total shareholder's funds

Notes

o

i0

13
13

31 December

31 Deecmber

2022 2021
£'000 £000
75,211 75,211
206,701 121,714
281,912 196,925
1,856 90,005
5 14,964
1,861 104,969
(99,150) {116,699)
(97,289) (11,730)
184,623 185,195
57 21
201,440 201,476
6,523 .
(23,397) (16,302)
184,623 185,195

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own income
statement in these financial statements. The loss made by the Company for the year was £7.1 mitlion (2021: £2.7

miilion).

The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the beard of directors and authorised

for tssue on .. 25 NONEIRET 2023,

They were signed on its behalf by:

Mo e

Name: Henry Davies
Director

2 NI . 2023

The accompanying nates form pari of these financial statements.

The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, [.ondon EC4M 6XH, England.
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Called up Share Otherr Accunulated
share capital premium reserves losses Total
£°000 £'000 £*000 £'000 £000
Balance as at 31 Decentber 2020 21 201,476 - (13,844) 187,653
Amounts vested under IFRS 2 (note 12) - - - 213 113
Loss and 1otal compreliensive Lloss for the year - - - (2,67) (2,671)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 21 201,476 - (16,302) 185,195
Other movemnents 36 (36) - - -
Lquity-scttled share-based payment (note 13) - - 6,523 - 6,523
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (7,085) (7,095)
Balance as at 31 Decemiber 2022 57 201,440 6,523 (23,307) 184,623
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1 Aecounting policies
The Company's accounting policies are included within those disclosed on pages 28 to 37 of the Circle Health Holdings Limited ¢onsolidated group financial
stateinents,

z Cililedn a¢counting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's and Company's accounting policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying
amowts of asscls and labilities that are not readily apparent from other sources, The cstimates and associaled assumptions arc based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevam. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The judgements and estimates that have the mast significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and ¢ould have a
material impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Crltical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policles

There are not deerned to be any eritical judgoments that have bren wade in Uk process of applying the Company's uccosnting policies in the financial

statements,

Key sources of estiination uncesrtainty
The key assumgtious and estimates at the end of the reparting period, that have a significant risk of causing a nzaterial adjustment to the carrying amounts of

the assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Investments
Investments are recognised al cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The carrying amount of investments is assessed annually, and the

useful fives of investments are considered to be indefinite, In the cvent that this estimate is inaccurate, the recaverable amount and consequently the earrying
value of investments may be iimpacted.
Receivables

Receivables arc recognised at cost [ess provision for deubtful debts. The carrying amount of receivables is assessed amvally, and provisions recognised based
on the eustomer speeific circumstances. In the event that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amousnt and consequently the carrying value of receiables

may be impacied,
3 Operating costs

The Company incurred £193,000 in relation 1o UK statutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £5,000).
4 Employees

Other than the Directers, the entity did not have any employees during the year (2021: nil), and therefore did not incur any staff costs during tie year (2021:
£nil).

5 Directors' cnialuments

Please refer to the Pirectors' emoluments nole in the Circle Health Holdings Limiled consolidated group financial statements (1ote 7).

6 Investments
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
£:000
Cost and net book value
At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 752211

The Dircetors consider that the value of the Company's fixed ssset investments are supported by their underlying assets. No provision for impairment of
investments has been made for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
See note 14 of the group financial accounts for a list of investments hedd by the Company.

T Dehtors

Amounts falling gue within ane year 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
Deblors - 42
Prepayments and acerued income 258 319
Amounts owed by group subsidiaries - 89,644
Deferred tax (see note 11} £,598 -
13356 90,005

Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed dale of repayment and are repayable on demand



Circle Health Holdings Limited Page 0

Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

10

11

14

Loans to group companles

31 December 2022 31 Pecember 2021
£:000 £2000

Ameunts owed by group subsidiaries 206,701 121,714

Loans to group subsidiaries are ungecurcd, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand. Thesg balances have been classified
within loans to group companies 1s management do nat expect these balances to be recovered wilhin the foresceable future.

Credttars . asmaunts falling due within anc year

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
Trade and other creditors - 2
Amounts awed to proup undertakings 98,206 116,413
Accruals and deferred income 944 284
09,150 116,699

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, inter¢st fiee, have no fixed date of repaymenig and are repayable an demand,

Deferred tax asset

3[ December 2022 31 December 2021

£'008 £000
Beginning of the year - -
Credit to profit and loss account 1,516 -
Credit to equity {OCD) g2 -
1,598 -

End of the year

Deferred tax balances have been remeasured at the rates they are expected to reverse, which is mainly at 23%.

Share capital and share premium

Refer to note 24 of the grouyp financial accounts for details of share capital, share premium and amounts vesting under IFRS 2,

Equity-settled share-based payment

‘The long-term stock plan is a stock plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited, The Company grants under this plan
solely relate to Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs") and Performance Stock Units ("PSUs") over $0.001 par value commen steck in Centenc Inc, and have no
cash cost (o the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the ultémate parent conpany granted RSUs and PSUs under these stock plans to selected directors and employees
of the Company.

The accounting standards (IFRS2) require an accounting {(non-cash) charge to be made in the financial statements of the Circle Group fer such awards, with
the corresponding credit taken to equity given there is na liability far the Circle Group for shares awarded under the long term stock plan.

The total accounting charge is calculated based on a number of factors and assumptions, and {he amount recorded for the year related Lo employee share-
based plans was £6,523,000.

Further details of the stack plan are included inr Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

Events after the reporting period

On 28 August 2023, it was anmounced that a definitive agreement hiad been signed whereby PureHealth will acquire Circie Health Group from Centenc
Corporation with the transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2024. The directors do not believe thar this transaction has any malerial impact oy
the balances rccorded or the disclosures presented in these financial statements. At the date of signing the ultimate controlling party remains unchanged,
being Centene Corporation.
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Related party transactions

The Company has 1aken advantage of the exemption from disclosing transactions with other members of the Group headed by Circle Health Holdings
Limited, provided that cach party ta the transaction is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Ultimate parent yndertaking and contralling party

The Directors regard MH Services Inrernatioual (UK) Limited, a Company registered in England and Wales, as the Conpany's immediale parent undertaking,
as al the 31 December 2022. The Directors regard Centene Corporation as the Company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party as at the 31
December 2022,

Cirele Health Holdings Limited is the parent uadertaking of the smailest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared that include the
financial statements of the Company. Centenc Corporation is the parent undertaking of the largest group for witrich consolidated financial statements are
prepared that include the financial statements of the Company, Centene Cowporation is a publicly traded company incorporated in the United States of
America. Centenc Corporation's registered addyess is 7700 Forsyth Blvd., St. Louis, MO 63105.



